# MORPHOLOGICAL AND MOLECULAR CHARACTERIZATION OF INDIGENOUS Bacillus thuringiensis AND SCREENING OF cry, cyt, ps AND chi GENES

By

**CHOK SIOW SHEIN** 

A project report summited to the Department of Biomedical Science Faculty of Science Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Science (Hons) Biomedical Science

April 2018

#### ABSTRACT

# MORPHOLOGICAL AND MOLECULAR CHARACTERIZATION OF INDIGENOUS Bacillus thuringiensis AND SCREENING OF cry, cyt, ps AND chi GENES

#### **Chok Siow Shein**

Bacillus thuringiensis is a rod-shaped, spore-forming Gram-positive soil bacterium that forms parasporal crystal proteins during its sporulation phase. These crystal proteins, which comprise of Crystal (Cry) and Cytolytic (Cyt) proteins are able to exhibit toxicity to different insect orders, making them a valuable tool as bioinsecticide. In addition, it was found that the presence of chitinase in *Bacillus thuringiensis* can increase the toxicity to its target organism. On the other hand, certain Bacillus thuringiensis strains produce noninsecticidal crystal proteins called parasporin, which was found to exhibit cancer-killing properties, making them a potential candidate for cancer treatment. Thus, the objectives of this study were to characterize the isolated *Bacillus thuringiensis* via morphological identification, electron microscopy, SDS-PAGE analysis and screening of  $\delta$ -endotoxins and chitinase genes through PCR amplification. All of the bacterial isolates R1, R2, R3, D1C, A2B and C6D were shown to be Gram-positive, endospore-forming bacilli that are able to produce spherical-shaped crystal proteins. Moreover, ovoidal-shaped crystal proteins were observed in R2, R3, D1C and C6D whereas cuboidal-shaped crystal proteins were found in R1 and R2. In SDS-PAGE analysis, all bacterial

isolates exhibited CytA, Cry35, Cry2, Cry3 and Cry11 protein bands. In addition, R1, R3 and A2B isolates were found to exhibit the Cyt2 protein band.

The 94-kDa protein band was observed in R3 and A2B whereas only R1 exhibited Cry34 protein band. In PCR analysis, all bacterial isolates were found to carry *cryI*, *cryII*, *cryII*, *cryI0*, *cry11* and *cyt2* genes except R2, which was the only bacterial isolate that did not carry *cryI* genes. The presence of *cryIV* gene was detected in R1 and A2B. All in all, all bacterial isolates were found to carry the Diptera-specific  $\delta$ -endotoxins genes. No presence of chitinase and parasporin genes can be detected suggesting that all bacterial isolates are non-cytotoxic but insecticidal strains.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Ms. Alicia Ho Lai Yee for her guidance and persistence help throughout my final year project. I am extremely grateful and thankful for her forgiving, constructive comments and other efforts to improve better.

I would also like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor and the lab officers in Universiti Sains Malaysia (USM), who assisted and performed the Transmission Electron Microscope (TEM) analysis for this study and also Mr. Ooh Keng Fei, who performed the Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) analysis. Without their hardwork, my final year project will never be completed successfully.

Moreover, I would also like to thank the laboratory officers Mr. Gee Siew Ming, Mr. Tie Shin Wei and Mr. Saravanan Sivasangaran for their guidance in troubleshooting and managing our lab safety. Furthermore, I would like to thank my bench mate Tan Yingying for her help and tolerance. Lastly, I would also like to thank my family and friends for their motivation and support during the hardship of my final year project.

## DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the project report is based on my original work except for quotations and citations which have been duly acknowledged. I also declare that it has not been previously or concurrently submitted for any other degree at UTAR or other institutions.

Chok Siow Shein

### **APPROVAL SHEET**

The project report entitled "<u>MORPHOLOGICAL AND MOLECULAR</u> <u>CHARACTERIZATION OF INDIGENOUS Bacillus thuringiensis AND</u> <u>SCREENING OF cry, cyt, ps AND chi GENES</u>" was prepared by CHOK SIOW SHEIN and submitted as partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Science (Hons) Biomedical Science at Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman.

Approved by:

(Ms. ALICIA HO LAI YEE)

Supervisor

Department of Biomedical Science

Faculty of Science

Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman

Date: 16<sup>th</sup> May 2018

# FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITI TUNKU ABDUL RAHMAN

**Date:** 16<sup>th</sup> May 2018

### PERMISSION SHEET

It is hereby certified that <u>CHOK SIOW SHEIN</u> (ID No: <u>15ADB06716</u>) has completed this final year project entitled "<u>MORPHOLOGICAL AND</u> <u>MOLECULAR CHARACTERIZATION OF INDIGENOUS Bacillus</u> <u>thuringiensis AND SCREENING OF cry, cyt, ps AND chi GENES</u>" under the supervision of Ms. ALICIA HO LAI YEE from the Department of Biomedical Science, Faculty of Science.

I hereby give permission to the University to upload the softcopy of my final year project in pdf format into the UTAR Institutional Repository, which may be made accessible to the UTAR community and public.

Your truly,

(CHOK SIOW SHEIN)

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
DECLARATION	V
APPROVAL SHEET	vi
PERMISSION SHEET	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
LIST OF TABLES	Х
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF ABBREVVIATIONS	xiii

# CHAPTER

1.0	INTR	ODUCTION	1
2.0	LITE	RATURE REVIEW	6
	2.1	History of Bacillus thuringiensis	6
	2.2	Habitat of Bacillus thuringiensis	7
	2.3	Taxonomy of Bacillus thuringiensis	9
	2.4	Bacillus thuringiensis δ-endotoxins	10
		2.4.1 Crystal (Cry) and Cytolytic (Cyt) Proteins	11
		2.4.2 Mode of action of Cry and Cyt Proteins	16
		2.4.3 Parasporins	16
		2.4.4 Mode of Action of Parasporins	19
	2.5	Chitinase	20
	2.6	Phenotypic Characterization of Bacillus thuringiensis	20
	2.7	Molecular Characterization of Bacillus thuringiensis	24
	2.8	Applications of Bacillus thuringiensis	25
3.0	MAT	ERIALS AND METHODS	28
	3.1	Overview of Experimental Design	28
	3.2	Chemicals, Media, Reagents and Equipment	29
	3.3	Bacterial Isolates	29
	3.4	Morphological Identification	29
		3.4.1 Gram Staining	29
		3.4.2 Malachite Green Staining	30
		3.4.3 Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) staining	31
		3.4.4 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	32
		3.4.5 Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)	33
	3.5	Molecular Identification	36
		3.5.1 DNA Extraction	36
		3.5.2 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	36
		3.5.3 Optimization of Annealing Temperature for DNA Amplification	39
		3.5.4 PCR Amplification	40

		3.5.5 Touchdown PCR	41
		3.5.6 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis	42
	3.6	Protein Identification	43
		3.6.1 Protein Extraction	43
		3.6.2 Bradford Assay	44
		3.6.3 Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel	44
		Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	
4.0	RESU	JLTS	48
	4.1	Gram Staining	48
	4.2	Malachite Green Staining	49
	4.3	Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) Staining	50
	4.4	Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	51
	4.5	Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)	56
	4.6	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel	
		Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	
	4.7	The $\delta$ -endotoxin genes gel electrophoresis	60
5.0	DISC	USSION	65
	5.1	Morphological Identification	65
	5.2	Crystal Proteins of <i>Bacillus thuringiensis</i>	67
	5.3	SDS-PAGE Analysis	70
	5.4	PCR Analysis of $\delta$ -endotoxin Genes	72
	5.3	Limitation of Study and Future Work	76
6.0	CON	CLUSION	78
REF	FEREN	CES	80
APP	PENDIC	CES	94

# LIST OF TABLES

Tables		Pages
3.1	PCR primers used for gene amplification	37
3.2	Standard PCR mixture for a reaction	39
3.3	PCR setting for optimization of annealing temperature	40
3.4	PCR setting for PCR amplification	41
3.5	PCR setting for Touchdown PCR amplification.	42
3.6	Preparation of 10% separating gel	45
3.7	Preparation of 4% stacking gel	46
3.8	Preparation of 6X sample loading buffer	46
4.1	Summary of the shapes of the crystal proteins produced by bacterial isolates	57
4.2	Summary of PCR results	64

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figures		Pages
1.1	Spores and crystals proteins are observed in electron micrographs	3
2.1	Overview of the known host range of <i>Bacillus</i> thuringiensis $\delta$ -endotoxin genes	11
2.2	Mechanism of crystal proteins of <i>Bacillus thuringiensis</i> in larvae of Lepidopteran	15
2.3	Cytocidal activity of parasporal inclusion proteins of <i>B. thuringiensis</i> on MOLT-4 cells, normal T cells, and HeLa cells	18
2.4	Micrographs of Bacillus thuringiensis	22
2.5	SEM of Bacillus thuringiensis spores and crystal proteins	23
2.6	Spores and crystals proteins are observed in electron micrographs in Transmission Electron Microscope	23
3.1	Overview of Experimental design	28
3.2	Overview of Gram staining	30
3.3	Overview of malachite green staining	31
4.1	Gram staining of the bacterial isolates	48
4.2	Malachite green staining of the bacterial isolates	49
4.3	CBB staining of the bacterial isolates	50
4.4	Scanning electron microscopy of bacterial isolate R1	52
4.5	Scanning electron microscopy of bacterial isolate R2	52
4.6	Scanning electron microscopy of bacterial isolate R3	53
4.7	Scanning electron microscopy of bacterial isolate D1C	53
4.8	Scanning electron microscopy of bacterial isolate A2B	54
4.9	Scanning electron microscopy of bacterial isolate C6D	54

4.10	Scanning electron microscopy of <i>Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis</i> (positive control)	55
4.11	Scanning electron microscopy of <i>Bacillus cereus</i> (negative control)	55
4.12	Transmission electron microscopy of bacterial isolate R3	56
4.13	Transmission electron microscopy of bacterial isolate C6D	57
4.14	The SDS-PAGE of the total protein extracts of bacterial isolates	59
4.15	Screening of the bacteria isolates using Un1 primer (cry1 gene	61
4.16	Screening of the bacteria isolates using Cry2gral primer ( <i>cry2</i> gene)	61
4.17	Screening of the bacteria isolates using Cry4 primer ( <i>cry4</i> gene)	62
4.18	Screening of the bacteria isolates using Cry10spe primer ( <i>cry10</i> gene)	62
4.19	Screening of the bacteria isolates using Cry11 primer (cry11 gene)	63
4.20	Screening of the bacteria isolates using Cyt2 (UN) primer ( <i>cyt2</i> gene)	63

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

A260/A280	Assessment of Nucleic Acid Purity
APN	Aminopeptidase
APS	Ammonium Persulphate
bp	Base pair
Bt	Bacillus thuringiensis
Btk	Bacillus thuringiensis kurstaki
Bti	Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis
CBB	Coomassie Brilliant Blue
Cry protein	Crystal protein
Cyt protein	Cytolytic protein
δ-endotoxin	Delta-endotoxin
g	Gravity
GPI-anchored	Glycophosphatidylinositol-anchored
kDa	Kilo-Dalton
PAGE	Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
PS	Parasporin
rpm	Revolutions per minute
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscope
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate
TEM	Transmission Electron Microscope
TEMED	Tetramethylethylenediamine

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Every year, insect-borne diseases such as dengue, yellow fever, malaria, filariasis and Japanese encephalitis have contributed significantly to the millions of deaths in more than half of the world's population (El-Kersh, et al., 2016). To date, dengue recorded the highest number of infections in Malaysia since 2015, making it the top of the list of infectious diseases in this country (Hilmi, 2017). In the absence of specific anti-viral treatments and effective vaccines for most of the insect-borne diseases, the effective alleviation of these problems are often crucially relied on insects control programs (Oestergaard, et al., 2007).

Over the years, chemical pesticide is commonly used for the control of insect vectors. Chemical pesticides have demonstrated effectiveness in controlling insect-borne diseases and increasing agricultural productivity. However, the extensive and intensive usage of chemical insecticides have led to several burdens, including increase in human health concerns, such as immune system disorders and cancers, disruption of natural-biological control systems, development of insect resistance and environmental pollution (Schnepf, et al., 1998; Sanchis and Bourguet, 2008; El-Kersh, et al., 2016). Thus, sourcing for alternative methods for vector control is therefore crucial in reducing these problems.

One of the alternatives to substitute chemical compounds for vector control is microbial insecticides. Over the last 6 decades, *Bacillus thuringiensis* has been preferably used as a biological insecticide due to its potency in controlling wide range of agriculture-pests, high host specificity, effectiveness in the control of wide range of agriculture-pests and human disease vectors and it is non-pathogenic to humans (Starnes, Liu and Marrone, 1993). Furthermore, *Bacillus thuringiensis* is able to prevent the development of resistance of pesticides in insects, making them a popular alternative agent of biological control for insect pests (Osman, et al., 2015; El-Kersh, et al., 2016). Hence, screening of new *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains with increased level of insecticidal toxicity with border spectrum of activity have attract the interest of researchers.

*Bacillus thuringiensis* is a Gram-positive, spore-forming soil bacterium that can be commonly found in soil. The insecticidal activity of this bacterium is mainly due to its ability to produce large amounts of proteins called parasporal crystal proteins during the sporulation phase. These proteins produced by *Bacillus thuringiensis* exhibit insect-killing effects to different insects order such as Lepidopterans, Dipteran, and Coleopterans (Palma, et al., 2014). When a susceptible insect ingests these proteins, they are processed by the alkaline condition in the midgut of the larvae and converted into toxic form (Höfte and Whiteley, 1989). These toxins bind to receptors specifically in the epithelial insect midgut and produce pores, eventually causing the death of the insect. The parasporal crystal proteins are produced by *Bacillus thuringiensis* alongside the endospore in a sporangium (Sauka, et al., 2010) (**Figure 1.1**). These parasporal crystal proteins are also known as  $\delta$ -endotoxin. The insecticidal crystal proteins are categorized into two families, Crystal (Cry) and Cytotoxic (Cyt) proteins. Despite the differences in sequence homology, both toxins appear to work synergistically in exerting insect-killing effect. Moreover, it was found that Cry and Cyt proteins interact synergistically in the insect gut to prevent microbial insecticides resistance in insects (Juárez-Pérez, et al., 2002). Recently, it has been reported that the presence of chitinase in *Bacillus thuringiensis* may also increase its insecticidal toxicity by forming perforation at the peritrophic membrane barrier to enhance Cry proteins invasion into epithelial membranes (El-Kersh, et al., 2016; Honda, et al., 2017).



Figure 1.1: Spores and crystals proteins are observed in electron micrographs.(a) Transmission electron microscopy (b) Scanning electron microscopy (Adapted from Sauka, et al., 2010).

Other than Cry and Cyt proteins that give *Bacillus thuringiensis* its insecticidal activity, some *Bacillus thuringiensis* produce non-insecticidal crystal proteins, which were shown to be able to exhibit cytocidal activity against human cancer cells (Mizuki, et al., 1999). The non-insecticidal crystal proteins are called parasporin. It was found that parasporins show strong cytocidal activity against liver cancer cells (HepG2), cervix cancer cells (HeLa), lung cancer cells (A549) and colon cancer cells (CACO-2) (Mizuki, et al., 1999; Ito, et al., 2004; Nagamatsu, et al., 2010). Moreover, parasporins are also able to differentiate between normal and leukemic T cells. Like insecticidal crystal proteins, parasporins are pore-forming protein that increases permeability of plasma membrane of target cells by formation of pore and cause lysis in cancer cells.

Because of the cytotoxic effect on human cancer cells, *Bacillus thuringiensis* has also become a popular research topic in cancer study. The cytocidal potential of parasporins against human cancer cells may lead to their usage as candidates for cancer treatments (Mizuki, et al., 1999). Thus, screening tests for novel anticancer parasporal proteins from *Bacillus thuringiensis* are being carried out (Ohba, Mizuki and Uemori, 2009). Previous study has reported that the natural *Bacillus thuringiensis* populations in Malaysia have shown anticancer activities (Nadarajah, et al., 2008). However, information on the diversity and distribution of parasporin genes among these non-insecticidal *Bacillus thuringiensis* from Malaysia have yet to be discovered.

Therefore, the aims of this research are:

- 1. To characterize *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates through morphological identification.
- 2. To examine the crystals formation in the *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates using scanning and transmission electron microscopes.
- 3. To determine the molecular weight of proteins extracted from the *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates using SDS-PAGE.
- 4. To investigate the presence of *cry*, *cyt*, *ps* and *chi* genes in the *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates through polymerase chain reaction (PCR).

#### **CHAPTER 2**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

### 2.1 History of *Bacillus thuringiensis*

Bacillus thuringiensis which was initially named Bacillus sotto, was isolated from silkworms in 1901 by a Japanese scientist named Shigetane Ishiwata, who investigated the causative agent of Sotto disease which cause the death of Japan silkworms (Ishiwata, 1901; Cannon, 1995). This bacterium was then rediscovered by a German biologist named Ernst Berliner in 1911, who isolated the bacterium from infected flour moth in Mediterranean. The species name "thuringiensis" was derived from the German state Thuringia, where the moth larvae were found, thus giving the bacterium the name *Bacillus thuringiensis*. Berliner studied the bacterium and found a crystal inclusion body present within the sporulated cells of the bacterium. However, he did not correlate the presence of the inclusion body directly to its pathogenicity (Berliner, 1915; Cannon, 1995). A few years later, Mattes (1927) isolated the *Bacillus thuringiensis* strain discovered by Berliner (1915) and found that this bacterium was able to exhibit toxicity against the corn borer in Europe, but it was not until much later in 1953 when researchers discovered that the insecticidal activity was caused by the inclusion bodies and not the bacterium itself. Hannay (1953) referred the inclusion bodies as parasporal crystal proteins and together with Fitz-James, they demonstrated the insecticidal activity of these pathogenic inclusion bodies

and proposed that they are composed of proteins (Ibrahim, et al., 2010). It was thought that many years before the bacterium was identified, the insecticidal potential of *Bacillus thuringiensis* was already recognized, as some accounts recommended that during ancient Egypt, *Bacillus thuringiensis* spores may have already been in use as an insecticidal agent (Sanahuja, et al., 2011).

### 2.2 Habitat of *Bacillus thuringiensis*

*Bacillus thuringiensis* strains can be isolated from many habitats. It is reported that the bacterium seems to be indigenous to many environments. Researchers have suggested that *Bacillus thuringiensis* is an ubiquitous soil microorganism, thus it is normally found in the soil (Dulmage and Aizawa, 1982; Martin and Travers, 1989; Bernhard, et al., 1997). In early work by DeLucca, Simonson and Larson (1981), they observed that 0.5% of more than 46,000 bacterial isolates from various soils in the United States were made up of *Bacillus thuringiensis*. Similarily, Ammouneh, et al., (2011) isolated *Bacillus thuringiensis* from 12.5% of soil samples from Syria which are Lepidopteraactive. In 1989, Martin and Travers compared different *Bacillus thuringiensis* subspecies isolated from 785 soil samples from 30 countries and reported that *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* as the most common subspecies. They also claimed that Asia has the most abundant *Bacillus thuringiensis* among the 30 countries they studied and *Bacillus thuringiensis* subspecies *kurstaki* is the most common type in Asia (Martin and Travers, 1989).

Moreover, various subspecies of Bacillus thuringiensis that are Lepidoptera, Diptera and Coleoptera-active were also isolated from insects' cadavers. Researchers have isolated *Bacillus thuringiensis* from deceased silk worm, larvae of flour moth, tobacco beetles and also mosquitoes (Berliner, 1915; Kaelin, Morel and Gadani, 1994; Asokan, 2007; Renganathan, et al., 2011). Besides that, various Bacillus thuringiensis have been discovered from stored product such as animal feed mills, dried grain residues, dried tobacco residues, stored product dust and mushroom compost (Bernhard, et al., 1997). Kaelin, Morel and Gadani (1994) suggested that the protected and dry storedenvironment gave an ecological niche for this bacterium, which was also supported by Meadows, et al. (1992). Interestingly, some researchers proposed that Bacillus thuringiensis seems to more commonly isolated in stored products or insects cadavers than in soil (Schnepf, et al., 1998). For instance, Bernhard, et al. (1997) have reported that 45% of Bacillus thuringiensis isolates were originated from stored products dust, with only 25% originated from soil. Also, in a study by Meadows, et al. (1992), Bacillus thuringiensis was successfully isolated from dried tobacco residues but not in tobacco field soil samples.

Other than that, some researchers have isolated *Bacillus thuringiensis* from conifer trees, phylloplane of deciduous as well as some horticultural crops (Smith and Couche, 1991; Asokan, 2007). Coleopteran-active and Lepidopteran-active *Bacillus thuringiensis* can also be found in leaf surface. In

1991, Smith and Couche (1991) discovered *Bacillus thuringiensis* from surfaces of leaf and suggested that presence of *Bacillus thuringiensis* on phylloplane may be considered as a part of the microflora of many plants. It was later found that *Bacillus thuringiensis* can cause infection of leaf-feeding insect larvae (Smith and Couche, 1991).

### 2.3 Taxonomy of Bacillus thuringiensis

*Bacillus thuringiensis* have been placed under the *Bacillus cereus* group, which members included *Bacillus cereus*, *Bacillus weihenstephanensis*, *Bacillus pseudomycoides Bacillus mycoides*, *Bacillus anthracis* and *Bacillus thuringiensis*. Previous studies have suggested that *Bacillus thuringiensis*, *Bacillus anthracis* and *Bacillus cereus* should be classified as a single bacterial species (Gordon, Haynes and Pang, 1973; Helgason, et al., 2000). However, sufficient genetic discrimination has been obtained from other studies to differentiate between *Bacillus cereus*, *Bacillus thuringiensis* and *Bacillus anthracis* (Harrell, Andersen and Wilson, 1995; Radnedge, et al., 2003).

Moreover, their distinctive pathogenic features also gave a separate species status for these bacteria (Priest, et al., 2004). *Bacillus cereus* is an opportunistic human pathogen that causes eye infection, periodontal diseases and food poisoning. *Bacillus anthracis* is the etiological agent of the lethal disease in

human and animals known as anthrax while *Bacillus thuringiensis* is a bacterium capable of surviving in the midgut and hemocel of insects and produces entomocidal parasporal crystal proteins (Ibrahim, et al., 2010). *Bacillus thuringiensis* and *Bacillus cereus* share many phenotypic characteristics include nutritional requirement, ampicillin resistance and motility. However, *Bacillus thuringiensis* produces parasporal crystal proteins during sporulation phase, making it the only characteristic that can differentiate *Bacillus thuringiensis* from *Bacillus cereus* (Vilas-Boas, Peruca and Arantes, 2007).

#### 2.4 Bacillus thuringiensis δ-endotoxins

During sporulation, *Bacillus thuringiensis* produce parasporal crystalline proteins which are toxic against different insect orders. The proteins can be divided into two major types: Crystal (Cry) and Cytolytic (Cyt) proteins, which are also called  $\delta$ -endotoxins (**Figure 2.1**). Cry proteins are defined as parasporal crystalline proteins produced by *Bacillus thuringiensis* that exhibit toxicity to a target organism. On the other hand, parasporal inclusions that exhibit hemolytic (cytolytic) activity are called Cyt proteins. Both toxins are innocuous to plants, vertebrates and human but highly specific to their target insects (Jisha, Smitha and Benjamin, 2013).



**Figure 2.1**: Overview of the known host range of *Bacillus thuringiensis*  $\delta$ **-endotoxins** (Adapted from Palma, et al., 2014).

### 2.4.1 Crystal (Cry) and Cytolytic (Cyt) Proteins

The first systemic classification and nomenclature for crystal (Cry) proteins of *Bacillus thuringiensis* was based on the insecticidal activity and the number of amino acids proposed by Höfte and Whiteley (1989). Four main classes of Cry proteins were identified: Cry1, Cry2, Cry3 and Cry4, and the genes were designated by Romanized numericals (I-IV): *cryI, cryII, cryIII* and *cryIV*. Generally, *cryI* genes encoded for Cry1 proteins that are toxic against Lepidopteran, *cryII* genes encoded for Cry2 proteins that are toxic against Lepidopteran and Dipterans, *cryIII* genes encoded for Cry3 proteins that are toxic against toxic against Coleoptera and *cryIV* genes encoded for Cry4 proteins that are

toxic against Dipterans (Höfte and Whiteley, 1989). Until the year 2012, Crickmore, et al. (1998) have reclassified the Cry proteins based on their DNA profiles and their modes of action. To date, there are 74 classes of Cry proteins (Cry1 to Cry74) that have been identified (*Bacillus thuringiensis* Toxin Nomenclature Committee, 2017) and each individual toxin was reported to show specific toxicity against Lepidopterans, Dipterans, Coleopterans, Rhabditids, Hemipterans, Nematodes, Hymenopteran and Gastropods (Palma, et al., 2014).

Cry1 protein is encoded by the *cryI* genes and has the molecular weight range from 130 kDa to 140 kDa (Cerstiaens, et al., 2001). When Cry1 proteins are ingested by insect larvae, the solubilized inactive protoxin will be cleaved into active toxin with the size range from 60 kDa to 70 kDa. It was reported that *Bacillus thuringiensis morrisoni*, *Bacillus thuringiensis kurstaki* and *Bacillus thuringiensis aizawai* carry the *cryI* gene which encodes the Cry1 proteins. The Cry2 protein is 65 kDa in size and enzymatically converted into the size of 60 kDa to 62 kDa when ingested by insect larvae (Liang, et al., 2011). It was found that *Bacillus thuringiensis tolworthi*, *Bacillus thuringiensis kenyae* and *Bacillus thuringiensis kurstaki* carry the *cryII* genes (Yamamoto, 1983; Moar, et al., 1994). Studies found several subspecies of *Bacillus thuringiensis* that carry *cryIII* gene, which include *Bacillus thuringiensis san diego* and *Bacillus thuringiensis tenebrionis* (Krieg, et al., 1983; Herrnstadt, et al., 1987). The *cryIII* gene encode for Cry3 protein which is 72 kDa in size. Like other crystal proteins, Cry3 proteins are enzymatically converted into the size of 66 kDa when ingested by insect larvae (McPherson, et al., 1988). Cry4 proteins can be categorized into 4 types: Cry4A (135 kDa), Cry4B (128 kDa), Cry4C (78 kDa) and Cry4D proteins (72 kDa). According to Crickmore, et al. (1998), Cry4C and Cry4D proteins are also referred as Cry10 and Cry11 proteins respectively. It was found that the Cry4A and Cry4B proteins were enzymatically converted into smaller 53 kDa to 78 kDa fragments whereas Cry4C and Cry4D were cleaved into fragments of 58 kDa and 30 kDa respectively, which subsequently exhibit toxic action against target insects (Höfte and Whiteley, 1989). To date, only *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* was reported to carry the *cryIV* genes (Sen, et al., 1988; Crickmore, et al., 1998).

Cytolytic (Cyt) proteins are categorized into three different groups: Cyt 1, Cyt2 and Cyt3 (*Bacillus thuringiensis* Toxin Nomenclature Committee, 2017). Unlike the Cry proteins, the genes that encode for the Cyt proteins were designated by numericals (*cyt1*, *cyt2* and *cyt3*). The Cyt proteins are 27 kDa in size and were found to exhibit toxicity against insects in the orders of Diptera, Coleoptera and also Lepidoptera (Höfte and Whiteley, 1989). Interestingly, it was found that the *Bacillus thuringiensis* that produce Cyt proteins, for instance *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis, Bacillus thuringiensis morrisoni* and *Bacillus thuringiensis medellin* exhibit higher toxicity effect against its target insect through the synergistic interactions with Cry proteins (Pérez, et al., 2005; Palma, et al., 2014).

### 2.4.2 Mode of Action of Cry and Cyt Proteins

Mode of action of the Cry and Cyt proteins involves several events after their ingestion by insect larvae (Jisha, Smitha and Benjamin, 2013). After the ingestion of crystal proteins, the inactive protoxins are initially solubilized by the alkaline condition in the larvae midgut, then converted into toxic core fragments through the action of protease (Höfte and Whiteley, 1989; Jisha, Smitha and Benjamin, 2013). For Cry proteins, the activated toxins interact with receptors specifically found on the microvilli on the epithelial membranes of the midgut glycosylphosphatidylinositol cells such as (GPI)-anchored aminopeptidase-N (APN), cadherin-like protein (CADR), and glycoconjugate (Rosas-García, 2009; Jisha, Smitha and Benjamin, 2013), which result in the pre-pore oligomeric structure formation. On the other hand, Cyt proteins do not interact with the specific receptors but bind to the membrane lipids directly and cause pores formation (Bravo, Gill and Soberon, 2007; Jisha, Smitha and Benjamin, 2013). Formations of pores cause destruction of cells and eventually cause the death of the larvae. The irreversible formation of toxins and its binding site determine the degree of the toxicity of  $\delta$ -endotoxins (Figure 2.2) (Schünemann, et al., 2012).



Figure 2.2: Mechanism of crystal proteins of *Bacillus thuringiensis* in larvae of Lepidopteran (Adapted from Schünemann, et al., 2012).

Recently, it has been reported that the presence of Cyt toxins play an important role in preventing resistance to Cry toxins in target insects (Bravo, Gill and Soberon, 2007). It was found that Cyt toxins interact synergistically towards Cry toxins as Cyt toxin functions as receptor molecules, which enhance the binding of Cry toxins to target membranes and cause toxic effect to the insects (Pérez, et al., 2005). Therefore, Cyt proteins may be practical in prevention of resistance in insects and to enhance toxicity of biological insecticides.

#### 2.4.3 Parasporins

For many years, it was believed that the *Bacillus thuringiensis* acquired its insecticidal activity through a host-parasite relationship with the insects. However in natural environments, *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates with non-insecticidal Cry proteins outnumber the insecticidal ones (Hastowo, Lay and Ohba, 1992; Maeda, et al., 2000; Lee, et al., 2003). This causes researchers to believe that *Bacillus thuringiensis* is not an obligate insect pathogen but an environmental saprophyte (Ohba, Mizuki and Uemori, 2009). As such, researchers hypothesized that non-insecticidal *Bacillus thuringiensis* may have novel biological activities other than insecticidal activity, which leads to the discovery of parasporins, that were found to exhibit toxicity against human cancer cells (Mizuki, et al., 1999; Ohba, Mizuki and Uemori, 2009).

Parasporin was first discovered by Mizuki, et al. (1999), who did a large scale screening of 1744 *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates from Japan for their cytotoxicity potential against human leukemic T cells (MOLT-4). They discovered 42 strains that were neither insecticidal nor hemolytical, but able to kill leukemic T cells, thus proposing that this is due to parasporal protein inclusions of certain non-insecticidal *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains. The protein was named parasporin and distinguished as Cry category. Some Cry proteins produced by non-insecticidal *Bacillus thuringiensis* such as Cry31, Cry46, Cry41, Cry45, Cry63 and Cry64 exhibit specific and strong cell-killing effect against many human cancer cells (Ohba, Mizuki and Uemori, 2009). Moreover, due to its unexpected remarkable cytotoxicity, the Parasporin Classification and

Nomenclature was established in 2006, and parasporin was defined as parasporal proteins of *Bacillus thuringiensis* that are non-hemolytic but capable of exhibiting toxicity to human cancer cells (Okumura, et al., 2011).

Like Cry protein, parasporin also exhibit cytotoxicity only when digested by proteases such as proteinase K and trypsin (Mizuki, et al., 1999). In 2010, Parasporin Classification and Nomenclature Committee have identified 19 parasporins and they were classified into six families based on amino acid identity: parasporin-1 (PS1), parasporin-2 (PS2), parasporin-3 (PS3), and parasporin-4 (PS4), parasporin-5 (PS5) and parasporin-6 (PS6) (Ohba, Mizuki and Uemori, 2009). In terms of their structure, they can be categorized into two types: three-domain type and pore-forming-toxin ( $\beta$ -PFT) type. PS1, PS3 and PS6 are three-domain type parasporin. Similarly to Cry toxin, they have a threedomain structure. Initially, they are first produced with molecular weight of 80 kDa and are converted to active forms of about 60-70 kDa (Katayama, et al., 2005). On the other hand, PS2, PS4 and PS5 are  $\beta$ -pore-forming-toxin ( $\beta$ -PFT) type. They have significantly similar structure to the aerolysin-type  $\beta$ -PFT, which act as cytolysins via pore-formation (Xu, et al., 2014). They are first produced with molecular weight of 31–37 kDa and are then converted to active forms of about 27–30 kDa (Kitada, et al., 2006, Ekino, et al., 2014).

After Mizuki, et al. (1999), several other studies were perofrmed to evaluate the cytocidal activity of *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates. It was discovered that activated parasporin of certain *Bacillus thuringiensis* exhibit strong cytotoxicity against hepatocyte cancer cells (HepG2), lung cancer cells (A549), uterus cervix cancer cells (HeLa) and colon cancer cells (CACO-2) (**Figure 2.3**) (Mizuki, et al., 1999; Ito, et al., 2004; Nagamatsu et al., 2010). Moreover, it was also reported that parasporins were able to differentiate between normal T cells and leukemic T cells, which may lead to the usage of *Bacillus thuringiensis* parasporin as potential cancer treatment (Mizuki, et al., 1999). In addition, it has been proven in recent studies that the natural *Bacillus thuringiensis* populations in Japan, Canada, Vietnam and Malaysia have parasporin activities (Yasutake, et al., 2007; Nadarajah, et al., 2008; Uemori, et al., 2008).



**Figure 2.3**: Cytocidal activity of parasporal inclusion proteins of *B. thuringiensis* on MOLT-4 cells, normal T cells, and HeLa cells (Adapted from Mizuki, et al., 2000).

#### 2.4.4 Mode of action of Parasporins

Unlike insecticidal Cry proteins, Parasporin-1 (PS1), which corresponds to Cry31, does not cause pore-formation in cancer cells. It has been claimed that PS1 induce apoptosis in HeLa cells by reducing the level of cellular protein and DNA synthesis. It is also reported that PS1 increases the intracellular calcium concentration within 1 to 3 minutes of treatment, which probably activates apoptosis (Katayama, et al., 2007). In contrast, Parasporin-2 (PS2), which corresponds to Cry46, is a pore-forming protein that increases permeability of the plasma membrane of target cells by binding specifically to a putative receptor protein located in the lipid raft of the plasma membrane. This causes formation of huge oligomers in the lipid raft, which then leads to formation of pore and cell lysis (Abe, Shimada and Kitada, 2007; Kitada, et al., 2009). Similarly, Parasporin 3 (PS3) which corresponds to Cry41 also acts as a poreforming protein as it increases the permeability of target cells (Yamashita, et al., 2005). Parasporin 4 (PS4) which corresponds to Cry45 is cholesterolindependent so it binds to plasma membrane non-specifically (Okumura, et al., 2005). As for Parasporin 5 (PS5) and Parasporin 6 (PS6), there has been no information available for understanding their mechanisms.

#### 2.5 Chitinase

Chitinase is an enzyme that hydrolyzes the  $\beta$ - $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -glycosidic linkages in chitin. It is widely distributed in nature and are mainly produced by fungi (Viterbo, et al., 2001), actinomycetes (Akagi, et al., 2006), and also bacteria (Ajit, Verma and Shanmugam, 2006). Through its chitin degradation activity, chitinase was recommended to be used as a fungus control agent. It was suggested by Hayes, et al. (2008) that chitinase can be used as a biocontrol against insects and mosquitoes. This idea was supported by Honda, et al., (2017) who suggested that chitinase is able to form perforations to enhance the Cry proteins invasion into the epithelial cells of the midgut membranes. In the year 2016, it was demonstrated that the presence of chitinase in *Bacillus thuringiensis* increased its insecticidal toxicity as it showed significantly higher larvicidal activity (El-Kersh, et al., 2016).

#### 2.6 Phenotypic Characterization of *Bacillus thuringiensis*

*Bacillus thuringiensis* is a motile bacterium due to the presence of peritrichous flagella (Ibrahim, et al., 2010). Since 1962, the characterization of *Bacillus thuringiensis* has been achieved by Hemaglutinin (H) serotyping, which is the binding of antibodies to the flagellar antigen (De Barjac and Bonnefoi, 1962). It is reported that specific *Bacillus thuringiensis* H serotypes correlated to specific flagellin amino acid sequences encoded by the *hag* gene (Ibrahim, et al., 2010). By the end of 1998, over 82 serovars and 69 H serotypes of *Bacillus thuringiensis* have been classified (Lecadet, et al., 1999). However, this classification possesses some limitations as it unable to differentiate strains with

similar H serotype and by itself, it is not enough to represent the molecular characteristics of a strain (Roh, et al., 2007). Moreover, this classification is independent of the production of parasporal proteins and biological activities, making the identification of insecticidal action of *Bacillus thuringiensis* difficult as there is no association between serovar and insecticidal activity (Porcar and Caballero, 2000; Soufiane and Côté, 2009).

As such, the investigation on the presence of crystal proteins is also an alternative way to characterize *Bacillus thuringiensis*. The toxicity of a strain against specific groups of insects can be predicted by observing the morphology of the crystals proteins produced (Mikkola, et al., 1982; Higuchi, et al., 1998). There are various shapes of crystal protein according to their Cry protein classes: bipyramidal (Cry1), cuboidal (Cry2), rhomboidal (Cry3), and spherical (Cry4). Refering to Höfte and Whiteley (1989), insects under the order of Lepidoptera, are susceptible to bipyramidal- and cuboidal-shaped crystal proteins, Dipterans are susceptible to bipyramidal, cuboidal and ovoidal-shaped crystal proteins, while Coleopterans are susceptible to bipyramidal and rhomboidal-shaped crystal proteins.

Phase contrast microscopy is commonly used to examine the presence of crystal proteins in *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Ammons, Rampersad and Khan, 2002). In addition to that, the Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) staining can also be used

to examine the presence of crystal proteins in the bacterial isolates (**Figure 2.4**). In fact, it was reported that the CBB staining was preferred over phase contrast microscopy as it allows high throughput evaluation on the presence of crystals in bacterial colonies by increasing the resolution (Rampersad and Ammons, 2005). Other than that, the morphology of crystal proteins can also be analyzed by Scanning Electron Microscopy (**Figure 2.6**) (Sanchis and Bourguet, 2008, Silva, et al., 2010).



Figure 2.4: Micrographs of *Bacillus thuringiensis* showing spores (double arrow) and relatively lightly staining crystals (single arrow). (a) Stained (b) Phase contrast microscopy (Adapted from Rampersad and Ammons, 2005).



**Figure 2.5**: SEM of *Bacillus thuringiensis* spores and crystal proteins; ep: spore; ce: spherical crystal; cb: bi-pyramidal crystal; cc: cuboid crystal (Adapted from Silva, et al., 2010).



Figure 2.6: Spores (s) and crystals proteins (cp) are observed in electron micrographs in Transmission Electron Microscope (Adapted from Sanchis and Bourguet, 2008).
### 2.7 Molecular Characterization of *Bacillus thuringiensis*

It is impossible to predict the toxicity of an unknown *Bacillus thuringiensis* strain by serotyping alone because it does not reflect the specific  $\delta$ -endotoxin genes that are responsible for the strain's toxicity (De Barjac and Frachon, 1990; Aronson, 1994). Since 1991, Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) technology has been used to predict the insecticidal activity of new or known *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates by using primers that are specific to high homology conserved regions of the crystal protein encoding-genes (Ben-Dov, et al., 1997). PCR is a fast and highly sensitive method to detect the presence or absence of targeted DNA. It requires only small amounts of DNA for analysis and enable quick screening of large *Bacillus thuringiensis* samples simultaneously, making it a better method in characterization than serotyping as the latter requires a long process and is unsuitable to be used for concurrent screenings of large amounts of isolates (Hansen, et al., 1998).

The insecticidal activity of a *Bacillus thuringiensis* strain can be predicted using Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) as the result correlates with the strain's toxicity investigated through bioassays (Carozzi, et al., 1991). For instance, PCR primer specific for *cryI* gene is toxic against Lepidopterans, whereas *cryIV* primer that targets the *cryIV* gene is specific against Dipterans. Moreover, Carozzi, et al. (1991) also suggested that PCR can lead to the identification and characterization of novel *cry* genes when unusual PCR products were selected and further analyzed. Over the last decade, PCR has been widely used to identify the  $\delta$ -endotoxin genes in *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates (Ben-Dov, et al.; 1997; Guerchicoff, Ugalde and Rubinstein, 1997). In the research by El-Kersh, et al. (2016), the presence of chitinase (*chi*) gene was confirmed using PCR to study the chitinase-induced synergistic larvicidal effect in *Bacillus thuringiensis*. After the discovery of parasporins, PCR method was established to identify the presence or absence of parasporins in *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates (Espino-Vázquez, et al., 2012; Brasseur, et al., 2015).

## 2.8 Applications of *Bacillus thuringiensis*

Today, *Bacillus thuringiensis* is the most popular biological pest control agent. Most *Bacillus thuringiensis*-based insecticides are formulated mixtures of *Bacillus thuringiensis* spores and  $\delta$ -endotoxin crystals, which are known to synergize the toxicity of the crystals (Osman, et al., 2015). A number of safety and environment considerations have favored the future development of *Bacillus thuringiensis* as pest control. For instance, *Bacillus thuringiensis* is remarkably easy to use with no irreversible effect to the aquatic ecosystems (Calamari, et al., 1998). Moreover, *Bacillus thuringiensis* bioinsecticides are cheaper to make as compared to chemical pesticides. Not only that, it is not pathogenic to humans, amphibians, birds, mammalians or reptilians. The high specificity on their target insects and invertebrate pests makes *Bacillus thuringiensis* a popular alternative in crops protection (Schnepf, et al., 1998; Sanchis and Bourguet, 2008) The first commercial insecticide was produced in the year 1938 and was used to control flour moth in France. Also in 1989, Bacillus thuringiensis was used in the United States as a pesticide against the gypsy moth (Twardus, 1989). Blackfly and mosquito are vectors of insect-borne diseases such as dengue fever, malaria and onchocercosis. The insecticidal potential towards mosquito and blackfly has led *Bacillus thuringiensis* to become a popular pesticide in insect vector control program (Schnepf, et al., 1998; Sanchis and Bourguet, 2008). In 1977, Goldberg and Margalit reported that *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* was proven to be one of the most potent and effective biological pesticides, which is highly toxic to blackfly larvae and mosquito. In 1997, the World Health Organization (WHO) launched the use of Bacillus thuringiensis against Dipteran larvae through the Onchocerciasis Control Program (OCP). Since then, *Bacillus thuringiensis* is used in West Africa to control blackfly species that transmit onchocerciasis (Sanchis and Bourguet, 2008). Similarly, Ohba, Mizuki and Uemori (2009) also reported the efficiency of using *Bacillus thuringiensis* to control the population of mosquito vectors that transmit onchocerciasis, lymphatic filariasis, rift valley virus and dengue virus.

Other than biopesticides, the insecticidal potential of *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) is useful to make transgenic plants expressing the insecticidal toxins. Today, Bt cotton and Bt maize are planted largely throughout the world (Sanchis and Bourguet, 2008). In 2015, Osman and team have claimed that more than 90% crops planted in the United States are transgenic crops which produce *Bacillus thuringiensis*  $\delta$ -endotoxins. Generally, the use of Bt transgenic plants brings many benefits to the agricultural fields. Not only can it significantly reduce the

use of insecticides in agriculture, many improved Bt cotton varieties are confirmed by researchers to be high-yielding (Sanchis and Bourguet, 2008). In addition, the cost of field management is reduced as fewer insecticides are needed due to the continuous production and persistence of insecticidal toxins in transgenic plants (Schnepf, et al., 1998).

However, some studies have reported that microbial insecticides still possess some limitations. For instance, Singh-Ashk (2007) claimed that despite the use of microbial insecticides, there may still be continued damages caused by presence of pests of other species, as one microbial insecticide may only be specific to a particular group of insects. It was reported that the Bt cotton crop in India was damaged by a new insect pest called the mealy bug, which had caused 25% of the Bt cotton to be destroyed (Singh-Ashk, 2007). Therefore, researchers are making more effort in isolating of novel *Bacillus thuringiensis* with better insecticidal spectrum and higher toxicity.

# **CHAPTER 3**

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 3.1 Overview of Experimental Design

**Figure 3.1** shows the general overview of the experimental design, which is divided into three subsections – morphological identification, molecular identification and protein identification.



Figure 3.1: Overview of experimental design.

# 3.2 Chemicals, Media, Reagents and Equipment

The list of chemicals, media, reagents and equipments that were used in this study is tabled in appendices in accordance to their respective manufacturers.

## **3.3** Bacterial Isolates

Six bacterial samples previously isolated from soil in Kampar were studied in this project, indicated as - R1, R2, R3, D1C, A2B, and C6D. The bacteria sample kept in glycerol stock were taken from -80°C fridge and thawed at room temperature. Then, the bacteria were cultured and maintained in nutrient agar and nutrient broth respectively. The incubation condition was 30°C and at 200 rpm with constant agitation (for liquid media) overnight.

## 3.4 Morphological Identification

### 3.4.1 Gram Staining

Gram staining was performed to verify rod-shaped and Gram-positive bacilli (**Figure 3.2**). A small loop of bacteria sample was smeared onto a drop of 0.85% saline solution on the glass slide. Then, the smear was subjected to air-drying and heat-fixing using a Bunsen burner. Once fixation was completed, the smear was flooded with the crystal violet primary staining for 1 minute, followed by washing with water. After that, the glass slide was stained with gram iodine

mordant for another 1 minute and washed with tap water. Then, the smear was decolorized with 75% ethanol for 10 seconds and washed with water. The slide was left to air dry and viewed under a compound light microscope at the magnification of 1000X with oil immersion. The positive control used was *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* and the negative control used was *Escherichia coli*.



**Figure 3.2**: Overview of Gram staining (Adapted from Tortora, Funke and Case, 2013).

# 3.4.2 Malachite Green Staining

Malachite green stain was carried out to confirm the presence of endospores in the bacterial isolates (**Figure 3.3**). After 90 hours of incubation, one loopful of bacteria sample was smeared onto a drop of 0.85% saline solution on the glass slide and subjected to air-drying and heat-fixing. Once fixation was completed, the smear was covered with filter paper soaked with malachite green stain. The

glass slide was then placed on top of a beaker with boiling water and the smear was steamed for 5 minutes. After that, the stained smear was rinsed with tap water and counterstained with safranin for 30 seconds, followed by washing with tap water again. The slide was left to air dry and viewed under a compound light microscope at the magnification of 1,000X with oil immersion. The positive control used was *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* and the negative control used was *Escherichia coli*.



Figure 3.3: Overview of malachite green staining (Adapted from Aryal, 2015).

#### 3.4.3 Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) staining

Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) staining was carried out to confirm the presence of crystal proteins in the isolated bacterial samples. After incubation of 110 hours, one loopful of bacteria sample was smeared onto a drop of 0.85%

saline solution on the glass slide and subjected to air-drying and heat-fixing. Once fixation was completed, the smear was stained with 0.133% CBB for 1 minute. After that, the smear was destained with distilled water for 10 seconds. The slide was then left to air dry and viewed under a compound light microscope at the magnification of 1,000X with oil immersion. The positive control used was *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* and the negative control used was *Bacillus cereus*.

#### **3.4.4** Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

The shape of the crystal proteins produced by *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates were studied using scanning electron microscopy (SEM). A single colony of bacteria was inoculated into a 250 mL conical flask containing 50 mL nutrient broth. The bacteria were incubated at 30°C for 110 hours until commencement of autolysis phase. The presence of spores and crystal proteins was confirmed by Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) staining prior to SEM processing.

The cells were harvested in a microcentrifuge tube by centrifugation at 6,000 rpm for 1 minute. This step was repeated thrice to increase pellet amount. Supernatant was discarded and the pellets were fixed in 300  $\mu$ L of 2.5% (v/v) glutaraldehyde in 0.1 phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) at 4°C overnight. The next day, the glutaraldehyde solution was removed by centrifugation at 1,500 g for 10 minutes, followed by washing with 0.1 M PBS. This buffer washing step

was repeated thrice, following by washing of pellets with cold distilled water thrice. After washing, serial dehydration process was performed using different concentrations of ethanol: 25% ethanol for 5 minutes, 75% ethanol for 5 minutes, 95% ethanol for 5 minutes, and 100% ethanol for 5 minutes with three changes. The samples were then further dehydrated by freeze drying for 18 hours.

Prior to viewing using SEM, a small amount of the dehydrated sample was transferred to a carbon tape adhered to a copper stub, followed by coating of the samples with platinum for 1 minute. Then, the copper stub was placed onto a specimen holder and the samples were observed under the SEM at 10,000X to 20,000X magnification.

#### 3.4.5 Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

A single colony from the bacterial isolates R3 and C6D was inoculated into a 250 mL conical flask containing 50 mL nutrient broth respectively. The bacteria were incubated at 30 °C for 96 hours until the commencement of sporulation phase. The presence of spore and crystal proteins were confirmed by Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) staining prior to TEM processing. The bacteria cells were harvested in a microcentrifuge tube by centrifugation at 1,500 *g* for 5 minutes. Supernatant was discarded and the pellets were fixed in 300  $\mu$ L of 2.5% (v/v) glutaraldehyde in 0.1 phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) at 4°C overnight.

After fixation, the samples were centrifuged at 1,500 g for 2 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and pellets resuspended in 0.1 M PBS. These steps were repeated twice. After that, the samples were centrifuged again at 1,500 gfor 2 minutes. The subsequent steps were done in the fume-hood. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was post-fixed with 1% Osmium tetroxide for 1 hour. After post-fixation, the samples were washed with distilled water twice. After the post-fixation washing steps, the samples were centrifuged to obtain the pellet. Supernatant was discarded and the tube containing the pellet was placed in a water bath set at 45°C for 15 to 30 minutes. Meanwhile, 3% agar solution was prepared by dissolving agar in boiling distilled water. While it was still molten, the solution was poured into a test tube and the tube was placed in the 45°C water bath. After calibration of both the molten agar and the pellets to similar temperatures, a drop of the molten agar was transferred to the tube containing the pellets. The pellets were quickly stirred until they broke into small blocks and suspended in the molten agar. Subsequently, the mixture was immediately poured onto a microscope slide and allowed to set for 1 to 2 minutes. The solidified agar containing the pellets was cut into small cubes (1 mm<sup>3</sup>) using a sharp blade. These cubes were then subjected to serial dehydration: 50% ethanol for 15 minutes, 75% ethanol for 15 minutes, 95% ethanol for 15 minutes twice, 100% ethanol for 30 minutes twice and 100% acetone for 10 minutes twice.

After the dehydration process, the cubes were infiltrated with acetone: Spurr's resin mixture (1:1) overnight, followed by a new change of 100% Spurr's resin mixture and infiltrated for another 5 hours in a rotator. After that, the cubes were embedded in 100% Spurr's resin mixture and cured at 60 °C for 48 hours.

Subsequently, the resin blocks were roughly trimmed with sharp blade, then finely trimmed with a a glass knife using an ultramicrotome. Semi thin  $(1 \ \mu m)$  sectioning were performed with a new glass knife and the thin sections were collected on a knife-boat filled with water. The sections were stained with Toluidine Blue and were checked under a compound light microscope under 400X magnification to confirm that the sections contained at least 80 % of the bacteria samples. After that, ultra-thin sectionings (less than 0.1  $\mu m$ ) were performed and the sections were collected on the dull side of a copper grid. The grid was allowed to dry in 60 °C oven for 15 minutes to allow proper attachment of the sections onto the grid. The sections were then stained with 2.0% lead citrate and uranyl acetate and allowed to dry for about 30 minutes. After that, the samples were viewed at 6,300X magnification using a Transmission Electron Microscope.

# 3.5 Molecular Identification

#### **3.5.1 DNA Extraction**

The bacterial samples were cultured into 250 mL conical flasks containing 100 mL nutrient broth. The bacterial cultures were incubated overnight at 30°C with constant agitation at 200 rpm. An extraction kit (Presto<sup>TM</sup> Mini gDNA Bacteria Kit) was used for DNA extraction following the manufacture's protocols. A volume of 3 mL of overnight bacteria culture was transferred and centrifuged at 14,000 *g* for 1 minute in a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube. Then, the DNA was extracted according to the procedure provided by the manufacturer (Geneaid) with slight modification. The duration of elution buffer stand in matrix was extended to about 1 hour and the elution step was repeated twice. After that, the DNA concentration and purity (A<sub>260</sub> / A<sub>280</sub>) was measured using nanospectrophotometer and was stored at -20°C for future use.

#### **3.5.2** Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplifications using different set of primers were performed to identify the presence of the target genes. Ten sets of primers were used to detect the presence of the possible  $\delta$ -endotoxin, parasporin and chitinase genes in the bacteria samples (**Table 3.1**). The standard PCR mixture for a reaction was prepared with components as shown in **Table 3.2** with a final volume of 10 µL.

Primers	Gene Recognized	Forward and Reverse Primer Sequences	Product size (bp)	Reference
Un1	cryI	(f) 5'- CATGATTCATGCGGCAGA TAA AC – 3'	277	Halima, et al. (2006)
		(r) 5'- TTGTGACACTTCTGCTTCCCA TT – 3'		
Cry2gral	cryII	(f) 5'- GAGTTTAATCGACAAGTAGATAATTT – 3'	500-526	Ibarra, et al. (2003)
		(r) 5'- GGAAAAGAGAATATAAAAATGGCCAG – 3'		
Cry4	cryIV	(f) 5'- AAATTGATGGTACTCTTGCCTCTT – 3'	423	Ejiofor and Johnson (2002)
		(r) 5'- TGCGTAATCCGTAACTTCTTGTAG – 3'		
Cry10spe	cry10	(f) 5'- TCAATGCTCCATCCAATG – 3'	348	Mahalakshmi, et al. (2012)
		(r) 5'- CTTGTATAGGCCTTCCTCCG – 3'		
Cry11	cry11	(f) 5'- TTTGCACCAGATAATACTAAGGAC	485	Ejiofor and Johnson (2002)
		(r) 5'- AACAACTGCGATAAATACCACTCT – 3'		

 Table 3.1: PCR primers used for gene amplification.

37

Primers	Gene	Forward and Reverse Primer Sequences	Product size (bp)	Reference	
	Recognized				
cyt2 (UN)	cyt2	(f) 5'- ATTACAAATTGCAAATGGTATTCC – 3'	355-356	El-Kersh, et al. (2016)	
		(r) 5'- TTTCAACATCCACAGTAATTTCAAATGC – 3'			
chi	chi	(f) 5'- ATGGTCATGAGGTCTC – 3'	2027	El-Kersh, et al. (2016)	
		(r) 5'- CTATTTCGCTAATGACG – 3'			
ps1	psl	(f) 5'- TACAAGCAGGGCGTCCAG – 3'	737	Espino-Vazquez, et al. (2012)	
		(r) 5'- TCTGCTGGAATTTGCAATGCT – 3'			
ps2	ps2	(f) 5'- TGTTGGGACTGTTCAGTACG – 3'	237	Espino-Vazquez, et al. (2012)	
		(r) 5'- GTAGTAGAGAATGAAACTTCTCCACC – 3'			
ps4	ps4	(f) 5'- GACAGAAACGTCTCGGAGTT	172	Espino-Vazquez, et al. (2012)	
		(r) 5'- TACCAGTGTAACCAGGAGCA			

**Table 3.1**: PCR primers used for gene amplification (Continued).

Components	Volume (µL)
PCR master mix	5.0
Forward primer (10 µM)	0.1
Reverse primer (10 µM)	0.1
Template DNA (50-100 µg/µL)	1.0
Sterile deionized water	3.8
Total volume	10

 Table 3.2: Standard PCR mixture for a reaction.

# 3.5.3 Optimization of Annealing Temperature for DNA Amplification

The primers listed in **Table 3.1** were optimized prior to PCR amplification. Ten tubes containing the reaction mixture as listed in **Table 3.2** were prepared. Using a thermocycler, the gradient temperature was set from 45 °C to 60 °C, and the PCR tubes were arranged in the block. The optimization parameters are shown in **Table 3.3**. The selected annealing temperature was the temperature which had positive and the brightest product band. The amplified DNA was then assessed and visualized using gel electrophoresis.

Step	Temperature (°C)	Duration (sec)	Cycle
Initial denaturation	95	120	1
Denaturation	95	30	35
Annealing			
Un1 Cry2gral Cry4 Cry10spe Cry11 Cyt2 (UN)	45-60	15	35
Extension	72	300	35
Final extension	72	300	1

**Table 3.3**: PCR setting for optimization of annealing temperature.

#### **3.5.4 PCR Amplification**

The PCR for the amplification of *cryI*, *cryII*, *cryIV*, *cry10*, *cry 11* and *cyt2* genes were performed using thermocycler (Eppendorf), with the parameters shown in **Table 3.4**. In every PCR, *Bacillus cereus* was used as negative control and deionized water was used as a non-template control. For amplification of *cryIV*, *cry10*, *cry 11* and *cyt2* genes. *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* was used as the positive control whereas *Bacillus thuringiensis kurstaki* was used as the positive control for amplification for *cryI* and *cryII* genes.

 Table 3.4: PCR setting for PCR amplification.

Step	Temperature (°C)		Duration	Cycle
			(sec)	
Initial	9	5	120	1
denaturation	9	5		
Denaturation			30	35
	Un1	55.5		
	Cry2gral	49.0		
Annealing	Cry4	55.0	15	35
	Cry10spe	48.4		
	Cry 11	55.0		
	Cyt2 (UN)	45.0		
Extension	7	2	45	35
Final extension	7	2	300	1

## 3.5.5 Touchdown PCR

Touchdown PCR is a method that can be used to increase the specificity of the reaction without actually determining the annealing temperature. In this study, touchdown PCR was performed using the primers for the *chi*, *ps1*, *ps2* and *ps4* genes to run preliminary screening for the presence of the respective genes on the bacterial isolates as there were no positive reference strains. The parameter for touchdown-PCR is shown in **Table 3.5**.

Step	Tempe	erature (°C)	Duration (sec)	Cycle	
Initial denaturation	95		120	1	
Denaturation		95	30	22	
	chi				
	ps1	58	15	22	
Annealing	ps2	(Δ-0.5)			
	ps4				
Extension		72	45	22	
Denaturation		95	30	20	
	chi				
	ps1	55	15	20	
Annealing	ps2				
	ps4				
Extension		72	45	20	
Final Extension		72	300	1	

**Table 3.5**: PCR setting for Touchdown PCR amplification.

## 3.5.6 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

After PCR amplifications, the amplified DNA was assessed using agarose gel electrophoresis. A 2% agarose gel and 1X TBE buffer were prepared. For gel electrophoresis of *chi* genes, 1.5% agarose gel with 1X TBE buffer were prepared. The gel was placed into a gel tank and immersed in 1X TBE buffer. A volume of 3  $\mu$ L of 100-bp Plus DNA ladder (Thermofisher), and 5  $\mu$ L of the

respective amplified products that were mixed with 1  $\mu$ L of 6X loading dye containing 20% Novel juice, were each loaded into their respective wells. For *chi* gene gel electrophoresis, 1-kb Plus DNA ladder was used. The gels were electrophoresed for 25 minutes at 100 V and visualized under UV transilluminator using the ChemiDoc<sup>TM</sup> XRS systems (Bio-Rad).

## **3.6 Protein Identification**

#### **3.6.1** Protein Extraction

The bacterial samples were cultured into 250 mL conical flasks containing 100 mL nutrient broth. The bacterial cultures were incubated overnight at 30 °C with constant agitation at 200 rpm. Total protein extraction was done using a protein extraction kit (ProteoSpin Total Protein Isolation Kit) following the manufacturer's protocols.

A volume of 3 mL of overnight bacteria culture was transferred into a microcentrifuge tube and was centrifuged at 6,000 rpm for 1 minute to harvest the pellet. Supernatant was discarded and 50  $\mu$ L of lysis solution was added into the tube. The resuspended pellet was then transferred to lysis tube. Then, the proteins were extracted according to the procedure provided by the manufacturer with slight modification. The liquid content was allowed to stand in the filter column for about 1 hour and the protein elution step protein was repeated twice.

#### 3.6.2 Bradford Assay

Bradford Assay was carried out to determine the concentration of the extracted proteins. A standard linear graph was generated using eight concentrations (0.0 mg/mL, 0.1 mg/mL, 0.2 mg/mL, 0.3 mg/mL, 0.4 mg/mL, 0.5 mg/mL, 0.6 mg/mL and 0.7 mg/mL) of Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA). The 5X Bradford reagent was diluted into 1X before use. After that, 5  $\mu$ L of each BSA concentrations and extracted protein samples were pipetted into a 96-well plate, then 100  $\mu$ L of 1X Bradford reagent were added to each well. The absorbance was read at 595 nm wavelength using the microplate reader. The assay was performed thrice to obtain the average absorbance values of the standard BSA concentrations and used to plot a standard graph with the r<sup>2</sup> value of 0.95-1.00. The concentration of the extracted protein samples were calculated based on the linear equation obtained.

# 3.6.3 Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

The total protein profile of six bacterial isolates were determined through SDS-PAGE analysis. First, two sets of glass plates with the thickness of 0.75 mm were set on the casting frame and fixed on a casting stand. Then, 2 mL of 70% ethanol were loaded into the glass plates to check for leakages. The ethanol was then removed by using filter paper. After that, 10% separating gel was prepared with components and volume as shown in **Table 3.6** and was loaded into the glass plates.

Components	Volume (µL)
Distilled water	4000
30% Bis-acrylamide	3330
1.5M Tris-hydrochloric acid (pH 8.8)	2500
10% Ammonium persulphate (APS)	100
10% Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS)	100
Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED)	5

**Table 3.6**: Preparation of 10% separating gel

Subsequently, 70% ethanol was pipetted gently on top of the 10% separating gel to remove air bubbles and the gel was left to polymerize for 30 minutes. After the gel had solidified, the 70% ethanol was gently removed by filter paper and 4% stacking gel was prepared with components and volume as shown in **Table 3.7**. Then, the 4% stacking gel was loaded over the 10% separating gel and a 10-well comb was carefully inserted into the 4% stacking gel. The gel was then allowed to polymerize for 30 minutes. After the gel had solidified, the glass plate was removed from the casting stand and placed into the gel tank. Then 1X of running buffer was poured into the gel tank and the comb was carefully detached from the 4% stacking gel.

**Table 3.7**: Preparation of 4% stacking gel

Components	Volume (µL)
Distilled water	3400
30% Bis-acrylamide	830
0.5M Tris-hydrochloric acid (pH 6.8)	630
10% Ammonium persulphate (APS)	50
10% Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS)	50
Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED)	5

A 6X sample loading buffer was prepared with components and volume as shown in **Table 3.8** and was diluted to 3X. A volume of 10  $\mu$ L of the extracted protein samples were mixed with 5  $\mu$ L of 3X sample loading buffer. The mixtures were then heated at 95°C for 10 minutes using heat block. The mixtures were spun at maximum speed for 1 minute at room temperature using table top centrifuge.

**Table 3.8**: Preparation of 6X sample loading buffer

Components	Amount
1.0 M Tris-hydrochloric acid (pH 6.8)	3750 μL
60% Glycerol	6000 μL
12% Sodium dodecyl sulphate	1.2 g
0.6 M Dithiothreitol (DTT)	0.93 g
0.06% Bromophenol blue	0.006 g

A volume of 20  $\mu$ L of the respective protein samples and 5  $\mu$ L of 175 kDa Chromatein Prestained Protein Ladder (Vivantis) were loaded into their respective wells. The gel tank was connected to a power supply and the gel was electrophoresed at 80 V for 90 minutes. The gel was then stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue staining for 5 minutes and destained with distilled water overnight. Then, the stained gel was visualized under UV transilluminator using the ChemiDoc<sup>TM</sup> XRS systems (Bio-Rad).

# **CHAPTER 4**

# RESULTS

## 4.1 Gram Staining

The Gram staining of bacterial isolates labeled **A** to **F**, and positive control labeled **BTI** are presented in **Figure 4.1** showed that the bacterial isolates and positive control appeared as purple and rod-shaped, indicating that they are Gram-positive bacilli while the negative control labeled **ECO** appeared as pink and rod-shaped in shape indicating Gram-negative bacilli.



Figure 4.1: Gram staining of the bacterial isolates viewed under compound light microscope at 1000X magnification. (A) R1 (B) R2 (C) R3 (D) D1C (E) A2B (F) C6D showed Gram- positive rod-shaped bacilli. (BTI) *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* (positive control). (ECO) *Escherichia coli* (negative control).

# 4.2 Malachite Green Staining

The Malachite Green staining of bacterial isolates labeled **A** to **F**, and the positive control labeled **BTI** are presented in **Figure 4.2**. All bacterial isolates and the positive control showed the presence of endospore while the negative control labeled **ECO** did not show any formation of spore. The vegetative cells were stained pink whereas the spores were stained green. The black arrows in **Figure 4.2** indicate the presence of endospore.



Figure 4.2: Malachite green staining of the bacterial isolates viewed under compound light microscope at 1000X magnification. (A) R1 (B) R2 (C) R3 (D) D1C (E) A2B (F) C6D showed that they are able to produce endospore. (BTI) *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* (positive control) (ECO) *Escherichia coli* (negative control). The black arrows indicates the presence of endospores.

# 4.3 Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) Staining

The Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) staining of bacterial isolates labeled **A** to **F**, and the positive control labeled **BTI** are presented in **Figure 4.3**. All bacterial isolates and the positive control showed the presence of crystal proteins while the negative control labeled **BC** did not show any formation of crystal proteins. The crystal proteins are stained in dark blue color. The black arrows indicate the presence of crystal proteins.



Figure 4.3: CBB staining of the bacterial isolates viewed under compound light microscope at 1000X magnification. (A) R1 (B) R2 (C) R3 (D) D1C (E) A2B (F) C6D showed that they are able to produce crystal proteins. (BTI) *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* (positive control) showed that they are able to produce crystal proteins. (BC) *Bacillus cereus* (negative control). The black arrows indicate the presence of crystal proteins.

#### 4.4 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

The Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) images of bacteria isolates and positive control *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* are presented in **Figures 4.4** to **4.10**. The SEM results showed that all of the bacterial isolates and the positive control were able to produce spherical-shaped crystal proteins. The negative control *Bacillus cereus* (**Figure 4.11**) did not show any formation of crystal proteins. The red arrows indicate the presence of crystal proteins whereas the yellow arrows indicate the presence of endospores.

The presence of crystal proteins with various shapes and their sizes were noted. **R1**, **R2** and **C6D** showed the formation of spherical-shaped crystal proteins with the size of 0.3  $\mu$ m whereas **R3**, **D1C** and **A2B** showed the formation of spherical-shaped crystal proteins with the sizes range from 0.3 to 0.6  $\mu$ m. Moreover, **R2**, **R3** and **D1C** showed the formation of ovoidal-shaped crystal proteins approximately 1.3  $\mu$ m in size whereas cuboidal-shaped crystal proteins with the sizes range from 0.3 to 0.4  $\mu$ m were present in isolates **R1** and **R2**. No bacterial isolates showed the presence of bipyramidal or rhomboidal-shaped crystal proteins.



**Figure 4.4**: Scanning electron microscopy of bacteria isolate **R1** at 20,000X magnification showed presence of endospores and formation of cuboidal and spherical-shaped crystal proteins.



**Figure 4.5**: Scanning electron microscopy of bacterial isolate **R2** at 20,000X magnification showed presence of endospores and formation of spherical, cuboidal and ovoidal-shaped crystal proteins.



**Figure 4.6**: Scanning electron microscopy of bacterial isolate **R3** at 10,000X magnification showed presence of endospores and formation of spherical and ovoidal-shaped crystal proteins.



**Figure 4.7**: Scanning electron microscopy of bacterial isolate **D1C** at 10,000X magnification showed presence of endospores and formation of spherical and ovoidal-shaped crystal proteins.



**Figure 4.8**: Scanning electron microscopy of bacterial isolate **A2B** at 10,000X magnification showed presence of endospores and formation of spherical-shaped crystal proteins.



**Figure 4.9**: Scanning electron microscopy of bacterial isolate **C6D** at 20,000X magnification showed presence of endospores and formation of spherical-shaped crystal proteins.



Figure 4.10: Scanning electron microscopy of *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* (positive control) at 10,000X magnification showed presence of endospores and formation of bipyramidal and spherical-shaped crystal proteins.



Figure 4.11: Scanning electron microscopy of *Bacillus cereus* (negative control) at 20,000X magnification showed presence of endospores but no crystal protein formation.

# 4.5 Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

The Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images of two bacterial isolates **R3** and **C6D** are presented in **Figures 4.12** and **4.13** showed the formation of endospores and presence of ovoidal-shaped crystal proteins next to the endospore, with the size of approximately  $1.3 \mu m$ . The yellow arrows indicate the presence of endospores whereas the red arrows indicate the presence of crystal proteins. **Table 4.1** shows the summary of the isolates with the respective crystal protein shapes.



**Figure 4.12**: Transmission electron microscopy of bacterial isolate **R3** at 6,300X magnification showed the presence of endospore and ovoidal-shaped crystal protein.



Figure 4.13: Transmission electron microscopy of bacterial isolate C6D at 6,300X magnification showed the presence of endospore and ovoidal (ov) and spherical (sp) shaped crystal proteins.

Shape	R1	R2	R3	D1C	A2B	C6D	BTI	BC
Spherical	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-
Ovoidal	-	+	+	+	-	+	-	-
Cuboidal	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bipyramidal	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
Rhomboidal	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

**Table 4.1**: Summary of the shapes of the crystal proteins produced by bacterial isolates.

\*(+) show the presence of respective crystal protein shape and (-) show the absence of respective crystal protein shape. BTI: *Bacillus thuringiensis isrelensis*. BC: *Bacillus cereus*.

# 4.6 Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

The total protein profile of each bacterial isolates, and the positive and negative controls are as shown in Figure 4.14. All of the bacterial isoates exhibited protein bands within 14 kDa to 95 kDa. The molecular weight of CytA, Cry2, Cry35 and Cry3 or Cry11 proteins are 25 kDa, 44 kDa, 65 kDa and 70 kDa respectively. In addition to that, the presence of protein band with the molecular weight of 29 kDa was observed in **R1**, **R3** and **A2B**. Bacterial isolates **R3** and A2B exhibited protein band of around 94 kDa in size wheareas only R1 showed protein band of approximately 14 kDa in size, which corespond to the size of Cry34 protein. The positive control, *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* exhibited the protein bands approximately at molecular weights of approximately 25 kDa, 29 kDa, 44 kDa and 70 kDa, which correlated to the sizes of CytA, Cyt2, Cry35 and Cry 3 or Cry11 proteins respectively. The presence of protein bands with the molecular weight of 29 kDa, 44 kDa and 70 kDa were observed in the negative control Bacillus cereus, which are similar to the molecular weights of Cyt2, Cry35, and Cry3 or Cry11 proteins. Other than that, no presence of protein bands that correlated to crystal proteins were observed in *Bacillus cereus*.



Figure 4.14: The SDS-PAGE of the total protein extracts of bacterial isolates. Lane 1: R1; Lane 2: R2; Lane 3: R3; Lane 4: D1C: Lane 5: A2B; Lane 6: C6D; Lane 7: *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* (positive control); Lane 8: *Bacillus cereus* (negative control); Lane M: the 175 kDa Chromatein Prestained Protein Ladder.

Legend:


#### 4.7 The $\delta$ -endotoxin Genes Gel Electrophoresis

The distribution of δ-endotoxin genes *cryI*, *cryII*, *cryIV*, *cry10*, *cry11*, *cyt2*, parasporin genes *ps1*, *ps2* and *ps4* and chitinase gene *chi* in the bacterial isolates were evaluated. The PCR results showed that all bacterial isolates contained *cryII*, *cry10*, *cry11* and *cyt2* genes (**Figure 4.15** to **4.20**). The presence of *cryI* genes can be observed in all of the bacteria isolates except **R2** while *cryIV* gene can be observed only in **R1** and **A2B**. *Bacillus thuringiensis kurstaki* was used as positive control for screening of *cryI* and *cryII* genes, wheareas *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* was used as reference strain for detection of *cryIV*, *cry10*, *cry11* and *cyt2* genes. However, none of the bacterial isolates and the positive controls contained parasporin and chitinase genes. All of the tested genes were not observed in the negative control *Bacillus cereus*. The results are summarized in **Table 4.2**.



Figure 4.15: Screening of the bacterial isolates using Un1 primer (*cry1* gene).
Lane 1: R1; Lane 2: R2; Lane 3: R3; Lane 4: D1C: Lane 5: A2B;
Lane 6: C6D; Lane 7: *Bacillus thuringiensis kurstaki* (positive control); Lane 8: *Bacillus cereus* (negative control); Lane 9: Nontemplate control; Lane M: 100 bp DNA ladder (Thermofisher).



Figure 4.16: Screening of the bacterial isolates using Cry2gral primer (*cry2* gene). Lane 1: R1; Lane 2: R2; Lane 3: R3; Lane 4: D1C: Lane 5: A2B; Lane 6: C6D; Lane 7: *Bacillus thuringiensis kurstaki* (positive control); Lane 8: *Bacillus cereus* (negative control); Lane 9: Non-template control; Lane M: 100 bp DNA ladder (Thermofisher).



Figure 4.17: Screening of the bacterial isolates using Cry4 primer (*cry4* gene).
Lane 1: R1; Lane 2: R2; Lane 3: R3; Lane 4: D1C: Lane 5: A2B;
Lane 6: C6D; Lane 7: *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* (positive control); Lane 8: *Bacillus cereus* (negative control); Lane 9: Nontemplate control; Lane M: 100 bp DNA ladder (Thermofisher).



Figure 4.18: Screening of the bacterial isolates using Cry10spe primer (cry10 gene). Lane 1: R1; Lane 2: R2; Lane 3: R3; Lane 4: D1C: Lane 5: A2B; Lane 6: C6D; Lane 7: Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis (positive control); Lane 8: Bacillus cereus (negative control); Lane 9: Non-template control; Lane M: 100 bp DNA ladder (Thermofisher).



Figure 4.19: Screening of the bacterial isolates using Cry11 primer (*cry11* gene).
Lane 1: R1; Lane 2: R2; Lane 3: R3; Lane 4: D1C: Lane 5: A2B;
Lane 6: C6D; Lane 7: Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis (positive control); Lane 8: Bacillus cereus (negative control); Lane 9: Non-template control; Lane M: 100 bp DNA ladder (Thermofisher).



Figure 4.20: Screening of the bacterial isolates using Cyt2 (UN) primer (cyt2 gene). Lane 1: R1; Lane 2: R2; Lane 3: R3; Lane 4: D1C: Lane 5: A2B; Lane 6: C6D; Lane 7: Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis (positive control); Lane 8: Bacillus cereus (negative control); Lane 9: Non-template control; Lane M: 100 bp DNA ladder (Thermofisher).

Genes	R1	R2	R3	D1C	A2B	C6D	BTI	BTK	BC
cry1	+	-	+	+	+	+		+	-
cry2	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	-
cry4	+	-	-	-	+	-	+		-
cry10	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		-
cry11	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		-
cyt2	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		-
chi	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
ps1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
ps2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
ps4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

 Table 4.2: Summary of PCR results

\*(+) show the presence of respective gene and (-) show the absence of respective gene. BTI: *Bacillus thuringiensis isrelensis*. BTK: *Bacillus thuringiensis kurstaki*. BC: *Bacillus cereus*.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

#### DISCUSSION

#### 5.1 Morphological Identification

All of the bacterial isolates R1, R2, R3, D1C, A2B and C6D were shown to be Gram-positive and rod-shaped, which was similar to the positive control *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis*. These results are in agreement to previous researches conducted on *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Quesada-Moraga, et al., 2004; Muniady, Rathinam and Subramaniam, 2011), who reported that *Bacillus thuringiensis* are Gram-positive bacilli. During the process of Gram-staining, the pore size of the thick peptidoglycan layer of Gram-positive *Bacillus thuringiensis* shrink when alcohol is added, resulting in the retention of the crystal violet-iodine complexes even after washing, thus being shown as purple color. As for Gram-negative bacteria, the presence of alcohol dissolves the lipopolysaccharide layer of the cell membrane due to the thin peptidoglycan layer. As such, the crystal violet-iodine complexes are not able to be retained in Gram-negative bacteria after washing, leading to the appearance of red or pink color due to the uptake of safranin dye (Tortora, Funke and Case, 2004).

After 90 hours of incubation, all of the bacterial isolates R1, R2, R3, D1C, A2B and C6D were shown to be able to produce endospores, which was similar to

positive control *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis*. These results correlate with the findings of Jisha, Smitha and Benjamin (2013), who reported that *Bacillus* spp. are capable of producing endospores to allow the bacteria to survive in extreme environmental conditions such as lack of nutrients. Spores are resistant to UV radiation, heat and chemicals because they are comprised of a tough proteinaceous covering called keratin. When the environment becomes more favorable, the endospore can reactivate itself to the vegetative state. Due to the tough coating, endospores resist to staining, thus the heating process was required to soften the coat of the endospores and enable the uptake of the malachite green dye. As the dye is insoluble in water, the washing step will decolorize the vegetative cells but not the endospores. The addition of safranin was used as counter stain to stain the decolorized vegetative cells. The vegetative cells would be stained pink while the endospores internally are stained green (Tortora, Funke and Case, 2004).

In addition to that, at 110 hours of incubation, all of the bacterial isolates R1, R2, R3, D1C, A2B and C6D and positive control *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* were shown to able to produce crystal proteins, which corresponds to the findings of Höfte and Whiteley (1989), Muniady, Rathinam and Subramaniam (2011) and Jisha, Smitha and Benjamin (2013). *Bacillus thuringiensis* is a closely related member within the *Bacillus cereus* group as they share many similar phenotype and genotype features, making it difficult for them to be distinguished from each other. Nevertheless, according to Höfte and Whiteley (1989), *Bacillus thuringiensis* is the only *Bacillus* sp. among the two that is able to produce crystal proteins, which makes it the only phenotypic

characteristic that can allow them to be distinguished from the other members of the *Bacillus cereus* group. Instead of phase contrast microscopy, Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) staining was used to examine the presence of crystal proteins as CBB staining has improved resolution over phase contrast microscopy, allowing even very small parasporal bodies to be visualized (Rampersad and Ammons, 2005).

#### 5.2 Crystal Proteins of Bacillus thuringiensis

The distinct shapes of the crystal proteins produced by the *Bacillus thuringiensis* can be used to identify their crystal protein classes and also the range of toxicity that they may exhibit against different insect orders (Höfte and Whiteley, 1989). There are various shapes of crystal proteins noted so far: bipyramidal, cuboidal, spherical, rectangular, ovoidal and also irregular-shaped. Although CBB staining can be used to verify the presence of crystal proteins, their definitive shapes and sizes are not entirely distinguishable due to the limitations of magnification of the compound light microscope. Therefore, two types of electron microscopy techniques were utilized, which were the Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) and Transmission Electron Microscope (TEM), to visualize the shapes and sizes of the crystal proteins produced by the bacterial isolates.

Based on the electron micrographs generated, all of the bacterial isolates R1, R2, R3, D1C, A2B and C6D and positive control *Bacillus thuringiensis* 

67

*israelensis* produced spherical-shaped crystal proteins with the sizes ranging from 0.3 to 0.6  $\mu$ m, which are similar to the findings from previous studies, who noted all of their Bacillus thuringiensis strains showed formation of sphericalshaped crystal proteins with similar sizes (Saadoun, et al., 200; Silva, et al., 2010 and Monnerat, et al., 2005). The observation of spherical-shaped crystal proteins in positive control *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* also corresponds to the result of Saadoun, et al. (2001) who reported that Bacillus thuringiensis *israelensis* are able to produce spherical inclusions. Crystal proteins that come with spherical-shaped are the Cry4 proteins, which are found to have toxic effect against insect order Dipterans. In 2005, Monnerat, et al. claimed that their mosquito-killing Bacillus thuringiensis strains produce spherical-shaped crystal proteins, suggesting that the production of spherical-shaped crystal proteins associate with the strains' toxicity against mosquitoes. Not only that, Silva, et al. (2010) noted that the spherical formations could alternatively be correlated to the toxicity of *Bacillus thuringiensis* against Coleopterans. In present study, all of the bacterial isolates were shown to exhibit ability to produce sphericalshaped crystal proteins, suggesting that all bacterial isolates have potential in exhibiting toxicity against insect orders of Diptera and Coleoptera.

In addition, according to Höfte and Whiteley (1989), Cry4 proteins may also exists as ovoidal-shaped, which were observed in the bacterial isolates R2, R3 and D1C in SEM images and R3 and C6D in TEM images with the size of 1.3  $\mu$ m. This observation further implicates the possibility that all of the bacterial isolates are able to exhibit toxicity against mosquitoes.

On the other hand, presence of cuboidal-shaped crystal proteins with the sizes ranging from 0.3 to 0.4 µm were observed in two of the bacterial isolates namely R1 and R2, which are similar to the findings of Silva, et al. (2010), who noted all of their *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains showed formation of cuboidal-shaped crystal proteins with similar sizes. According to previous studies, cuboidal crystal that represent the Cry2 protein was found in *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains that exhibit toxicity to insects from the orders of Lepidoptera and Diptera, thus suggesting that bacterial isolates R1 and R2 may have potential to exhibit toxicity to Lepidoptera and Dipteran order of insects (Höfte and Whiteley, 1989).

Besides that, bipyramidal-shaped crystal proteins that represent the Cry1 proteins that are toxic to Lepidopterans were not found in any of the bacterial isolates, but were exhibited by the positive control *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis*, which correlate to the findings of Höfte and Whiteley (1989), who reported that *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* able to produce bipyramidal inclusions. The absence of bipyramidal-shaped crystal proteins in all bacterial isolates implicates that the bacterial isolates may not exhibit toxicity to Lepidopterans. All in all, the number and diversity of the crystal shape in this study are in agreement to a previous study done by Cinar, et al. (2008), who noted that spherical-shaped crystal proteins are the most abundant crystal shapes produced by *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates, followed by cuboidal and lastly bipyramidal-shaped.

#### 5.3 SDS-PAGE Analysis

SDS-PAGE is a method used to separate proteins based on their molecular sizes. Based on the result, the positive control *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* showed the presence of protein bands at sizes of 25 kDa, 29 kDa, 44 kDa and 70 kDa, representing CytA, Cyt2, Cry35 and Cry3 or Cry11 proteins respectively, which are corresponding to the findings in the research of Höfte and Whiteley (1989) research.

All of the bacterial isolates R1, R2, R3, D1C, A2B and C6D showed similar results in their protein profiles when compared to reference strain. The presence of protein bands with the sizes of 25 kDa, 44 kDa, 65 kDa and 70 kDa in all lanes indicate the presence of CytA, Cry35, Cry2, and Cry3 or Cry11 proteins in all of the bacterial isolates. These results are similar to the findings of Höfte and Whiteley (1989), Arrieta, Hernández and Espinoza (2004) and Monnerat, et al. (2005), who reported the presence of Cry2, Cry3, Cry11 and Cry35 proteins with the sizes mentioned above in their *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains. Generally, the CytA, Cry35, Cry2, Cry3 and Cry11 proteins were specific against the insect orders of Lepidoptera and Diptera, thus it can be suggested that all of the bacterial isolates may exhibit toxicity against these two insect orders (Crickmore, et al., 1998). Moreover, three of the bacterial isolates R1, R3 and A2B exhibited the protein bands with the size of 29 kDa, which

represent the Cyt2 proteins that are specific to Dipteran. Thus, it can be suggested that R1, R3 and A2B may exhibit insecticidal property against insects from the order of Diptera.

Interestingly, the presence of distinct protein bands with approximately 94 kDa were observed in two of the bacterial isolates R3 and A2B. A previous study by Restrepo, et al. (1997) reported that *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *medellin*, which showed toxicity to larvae of mosquito, produced parasporal crystalline inclusions with sizes of 94 kDa, thus suggesting that R3 and A2B may exhibit toxic effect against insect order Dipetera. Moreover, a clear protein band with the size of 14 kDa was observed in R1, which was also reported in a study by Ellis, et al. (2002), who noted the presence of parasporal inclusion bodies with molecular mass of 14 kDa. These were represented as the Cry34 proteins, which were found in *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates that show insecticidal activity against western corn rootworm (WCR) larvae. Thus, it can be anticipated that R1 may also exhibit toxic effect against WCR larvae.

However, SDS-PAGE analysis cannot distinguish proteins that come with similar molecular sizes. For instance, Cry3 and Cry11 share the molecular sizes of approximately 70 kDa, thus making it hard to verify the presence by merely observing the protein bands. In addition to that, all bacterial isolates that exhibited the Cry35, Cry3 and Cry11 protein bands are non-conclusive as the protein bands with the similar sizes of around 44 and 70 kDa were also observed in negative control *Bacillus cereus*. This can be due to the presence of a protein

of approximately 42 kDa called the 41.9-kDa protein, which are found to be produced by *Bacillus thuringiensis* and also *Bacillus cereus* (Palma, et al., 2014). Also, there were appearance of protein bands at the size of 70 kDa in *Bacillus cereus*, which represent Cry3 and Cry11 proteins, thus making the presence of Cry3 and Cry11 in bacterial isolates non-conclusive. This also may be due to the presence of protein with the size closely to 70 kDa such as chitinase, who has the size of 74 kDa. SDS-PAGE analysis may be able to determine the protein sizes, but does not ensure the presence of the crystal proteins. Therefore, the ability of the bacterial isolates to produce the crystal protein classes were further examined by performing polymerase chain reaction (PCR) to screen for the  $\delta$ -endotoxin genes that can produce these crystal proteins.

#### **5.4** PCR Analysis of δ-endotoxin Genes

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) was carried out to screen for the presence of  $\delta$ -endotoxin genes in the bacterial isolates. The  $\delta$ -endotoxin genes were detected using their respective primers adapted from previous studies. Based on the results, all bacterial isolates R1, R2, R3, D1C, A2B and C6D were found to carry *cryII, cry10,* cry11 and cyt2 genes at their respective band sizes (Ejiofor and Johnson, 2002; Ibarra, et al., 2003; Mahalakshmi et al., 2012; El-Kersh, et al., 2016). Out of the six isolates, five of them which are R1, R3, D1C, A2B and C6D possess the *cryI* genes at 277 bp, which corresponds to the findings by Halima, et al. (2006). The presence of *cryIV* genes can be observed in only two bacterial isolates R1 and A2B at the band size of 423 bp, which correlate to

findings of Ejiofor and Johnson (2002), making it the least abundant *cry* genes present among the six *cry* genes tested.

The distribution of the *cry* and *cyt* genes in the bacterial isolates were similar with Lone, Malik and Padaria (2017), who reported that the *cryI* genes were the most abundant genes, followed by *cyt2*, *cry 11* and lastly *cryIV* genes. However, these results are not in agreement with Rosas García, et al. (2008), who claimed that the *cryIV* genes are more abundantly found than *cryI* and *cryII* genes. Not only that, none of the bacterial isolate contained any of the parasporin and chitinase genes, which was in contrast with the findings of Espino-Vazquez, et al. (2012) and El-Kersh, et al. (2016). This could be due to the strains of the *Bacillus thuringiensis* were isolated from different geographical areas, resulting in different distribution of  $\delta$ -endotoxin genes among the bacteria isolates. This theory is supported by Djenane, et al. (2017), who explained that the contrast in the distribution of the  $\delta$ -endotoxin genes with previous studies could be a consequence of the adaptation of *Bacillus thuringiensis* to the biotope.

The results obtained through electron microscopy, SDS-PAGE and PCR were evaluated as the shapes of the crystal proteins formation could be associated to the type of Cry protein and consequently to its *cry* gene (Höfte, et al., 1988). The spherical-shaped Cry4 proteins were shown to be present in all bacteria isolates, and this result corresponds to the findings in PCR analysis, which showed that all bacteria isolates carry either the *cryIV* genes or *cry10* and *cry11* 

genes, which are also referred as *cryIVC* and *cryIVD* genes respectively (Crickmore, et al., 1998). Similarly, *cry11* gene was observed in all bacteria isolates in PCR analysis, and this correlate with the results of the protein profile in SDS-PAGE, which showed the presence of Cry11 protein bands in all of the bacterial isolates.

However, some of the shapes, proteins and gene profiles of bacterial isolates did not show any correlation. The appearance of Cry2 protein bands in SDS-PAGE in all bacterial isolates corresponds to the result in PCR analysis, which showed the presence of *cryII* genes in all bacteria isolates. However, cuboidalshaped crystal proteins, which represent the Cry2 crystal protein, were only observed in R1 and R2. Also, only three of the bacterial isolates R1, R3 and A2B showed the presence of Cyt2 protein band, although result of the PCR analysis showed all of them to be carrying the *cyt2* gene. The bacterial isolates R1 and A2B which were found to possess the *cryIV* gene did not show any bands that corresponds to Cry4 proteins. In addition to that, although bacterial isolates R1, R3, D1C, A2B and C6D were found to carry cryl genes, none of these bacterial isolates showed appearance of Cry1 protein bands in SDS-PAGE nor the formation of bipyramidal-shaped crystal protein, which represent the Cry1 protein. Not only that, all bacterial isolates showed the presence of cry10 genes, but none of the bacterial isolates showed the Cry10 protein bands. Moreover, all of the bacteria isolates exhibited presence of the Cry3 protein band, but in electron microscopy, no rhomboidal-shaped crystal proteins can be observed.

The differences in the shapes, proteins and genes profile in Bacillus thuringiensis isolates were also reported in the studies of Porcar and Juarez-Perez (2003) and Silva, et al. (2010) studies, thus it is suggested that the presence of genes does not necessarily yield the corresponding proteins. In 2008, Cinar, et al. mentioned that there is no correlation between the insecticidal crystal shapes of the isolates and cry genotypes. In 1995, Agaisse and Lereclus also concluded that the expression of  $\delta$ -endotoxin genes can be turned on or off due to environmental factor, which explained the difference in the shapes and protein profiles of the bacteria isolates in this study, as the electron microscopy and SDS-PAGE analysis were not carried out at the same time period. This theory was supported by Armengol, et al. (2007), who claimed that the sporulation of each bacteria isolates depends on growth medium condition and varies from strain to strain, and some isolates might not have reached the autolysis phase to release higher amounts of crystal proteins for detection. In addition, Armengol, et al. (2007) also supported the idea that there is minimal to no correlation between the protein profiling and the  $\delta$ -endotoxin genes as it is possible that the detected  $\delta$ -endotoxin genes are inactive or the proteins are expressed in low amount, which then cannot be detected by using Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) staining.

#### 5.3 Limitation of Study and Future Work

In present study, SDS-PAGE was performed using extracted total proteins, which may lead to the presence of protein bands that are not related to the crystal proteins. Thus, additional purification step can be carried out to obtain a pure crystal proteins suspension, so that the protein bands obtained can represent the presence of the actual crystal proteins present. Similary, instead of whole bacteria suspension, pure crystal proteins suspension should be used for the study of the shapes of crystal proteins using electron microscopy, as whole bacteria suspension contains lysed bacteria and cell debris, which makes the identification of the shapes of crystal proteins difficult.

Nevertheless, the analysis of the crystal proteins using SDS-PAGE possess some limitations as this method helps to determine the protein sizes, but does not ensure the presence of proteins. Also, SDS-PAGE cannot distinguish proteins that come with similar molecular size. Thus instead of SDS-PAGE, Western blotting can be performed, whereby specific antibodies that binds to specific crystal proteins are used to confrim the presence of the respective crystal proteins. Not only that, Western blot can also confirm the expression of  $\delta$ -endotoxin genes. The analysis of the protein profiles in *Bacillus thuringiensis* can be difficult as the expression of crystal proteins varies from strains to strains, and the environment factor may turn off the  $\delta$ -endotoxin gene expression, resulting in low amount of crystal proteins. Therefore, silver staining could be used instead of Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) staining to detect any low concentration of crystal proteins. In order to yield higher amount of crystal proteins, cloning can be carried out by inserting the genes coding for specific crystal proteins into a host cell, and eventually larger amount of crystal proteins can be obtained when the host cell replicates.

In future works, screening of other  $\delta$ -endotoxins that encodes for proteins that target different organisms such as Lepidoptera, Coleoptera, Hymenoptera, Gastropoda or Hemiptera can be carried out to fully assess the toxicity potential of the bacterial isolates. Larvicidal activity of different species of insect larvae can also be done to confirm the toxicity of bacterial isolates. Although parasporin genes were not detected in this study, screening of other  $\delta$ -endotoxins genes that show cytotoxic activity against cancer cells or cytotoxic assay can also be carried out to verify the cytotoxic effect of bacterial isolates against cancer cells.

#### **CHAPTER 6**

#### CONCLUSION

All of the bacterial isolates R1, R2, R3, D1C, A2B and C6D were shown to be Gram-positive, rod-shaped *Bacillus thuringiensis* that produce endospores and crystal proteins. In electron microscopy, all bacterial isolates were able to produce spherical-shaped crystal proteins, suggesting that all bacterial isolates have potential to exhibit insecticidal property against insect orders from the order of Diptera. Ovoidal-shaped crystal proteins which also show toxic effect to Diptera can be observed in R2, R3, D1C and C6D. On the other hand, cuboidal-shaped crystal proteins were found in R1 and R2, which are known to be able to exhibit toxic effect against Lepidopteran and Dipteran, suggesting that R1 and R2 have potential in exhibiting toxic effect against these two insect orders.

In SDS-PAGE analysis, all bacterial isolates R1, R2, R3, D1C, A2B and C6D were shown to exhibit 25 kDa, 44 kDa, 65 kDa, and 70 kDa protein bands, indicating the presence of CytA, Cry35, Cry2, Cry3 and Cry11 proteins respectively, thus suggesting that all of the bacterial isolates have potential exhibit toxicity against Lepitopterans and Dipterans. In addition, bacterial isolates R1, R3 and A2B isolates were found to exhibit the protein size of Cyt2 protein, whereas R3 and A2B showed presence of 94 kDa proteins that can cause toxic effect to Diptera. Not only that, R1 was the only bacterial isolate

that exhibits Cry34 proteins which was found to be able to kill rootworm (WCR) larvae.

In PCR analysis, all bacterial isolates were found to carry *cryI*, *cryII*, *cryII* 

#### REFERENCES

Abe, Y., Shimada, H. and Kitada, S., 2007. Raft-targeting and oligomerization of Parasporin-2, a *Bacillus thuringiensis* crystal protein with anti-tumour activity. *Journal of Biochemistry*, 143(2), pp.269-275.

Agaisse, H. and Lereclus, D., 1995. How does *Bacillus thuringiensis* produce so much insecticidal crystal protein? *Journal of Bacteriology*, *177*(21), p.6027.

Ajit, N.S., Verma, R. and Shanmugam, V., 2006. Extracellular chitinases of fluorescent pseudomonads antifungal to *Fusarium oxysporum f.* sp. *dianthi* causing carnation wilt. *Current Microbiology*, 52(4), pp.310-316.

Akagi, K.I., Watanabe, J., Hara, M., Kezuka, Y., Chikaishi, E., Yamaguchi, T., Akutsu, H., Nonaka, T., Watanabe, T. and Ikegami, T., 2006. Identification of the substrate interaction region of the chitin-binding domain of *Streptomyces griseus* chitinase C. *Journal of Biochemistry*, *139*(3), pp.483-493.

Ammons, D., Rampersad, J. and Khan, A., 2002. Usefulness of staining parasporal bodies when screening for *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, 79(3), pp. 203 – 204.

Ammouneh, H., Harba, M., Idris, E. and Makee, H., 2011. Isolation and characterization of native *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates from Syrian soil and testing of their insecticidal activities against some insect pests. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, 35(4), pp.421-431.

Armengol, G., Escobar, M.C., Maldonado, M.E. and Orduz, S., 2007. Diversity of Colombian strains of *Bacillus thuringiensis* with insecticidal activity against dipteran and lepidopteran insects. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *102*(1), pp.77-88.

Aronson, A.I., 1994. *Bacillus thuringiensis* and its use as a biological insecticide. *Plant Breed Reviews*, 12, pp.19-45.

Arrieta, G., Hernández, A. and Espinoza, A.M., 2004. Diversity of *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains isolated from coffee plantations infested with the coffee berry borer *Hypothenemus hampei*. *Revista de Biología Tropical*, *52*(3), pp.757-764.

Aryal, S., 2015. *Endospore Staining- Principle, Reagents, Procedure and Result.* [online] Available at: <a href="https://microbiologyinfo.com/endospore-staining-principle-reagents-procedure-and-result/">https://microbiologyinfo.com/endospore-staining-principle-reagents-procedure-and-result/</a> [Accessed 18 Jan 2018].

Asokan, R., 2007. Isolation and characterization of *Bacillus thuringiensis* Berliner from soil, leaf, seed dust and insect cadaver. *Journal of Biological Control*, 21(1), pp.83-90.

*Bacillus thuringiensis* Toxin Nomenclature Committee, 2017. *Bacillus thuringiensis Toxin Nomenclature*. [online] Available at: <a href="http://www.btnomenclature.info/">http://www.btnomenclature.info/</a>> [Accessed 1 February 2018].

Ben-Dov, E., Zaritsky, A., Dahan, E., Barak, Z.E., Sinai, R., Manasherob, R., Khamraev, A., Troitskaya, E., Dubitsky, A., Berezina, N. and Margalith, Y., 1997. Extended screening by PCR for seven cry-group genes from field-collected strains of *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *63*(12), pp.4883-4890.

Berliner, E., 1915. Über die Schlaffsucht der Mehlmottenraupe (Ephestia kühniella Zell.) und ihren Erreger *Bacillus thuringiensis* n. sp. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 2(1), pp.29-56.

Bernhard, K., Jarrett, P., Meadows, M., Butt, J., Ellis, D.J., Roberts, G.M., Pauli, S., Rodgers, P. and Burges, H.D., 1997. Natural isolates of *Bacillus thuringiensis*: worldwide distribution, characterization, and activity against insect pests. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, *70*(1), pp.59-68.

Brasseur, K., Auger, P., Asselin, E., Parent, S., Côté, J.C. and Sirois, M., 2015. Parasporin-2 from a new *Bacillus thuringiensis* 4r2 strain induces caspases activation and apoptosis in human cancer cells. *PloS One*, *10*(8), p.e0135106.

Bravo, A., Gill, S.S. and Soberon, M., 2007. Mode of action of *Bacillus thuringiensis* Cry and Cyt toxins and their potential for insect control. *Toxicon*, 49(4), pp.423-435.

Calamari, D., Yameogo, L., Hougard, J.M. and Leveque, C., 1998. Environmental assessment of larvicide use in the Onchocerciasis Control Programme. *Parasitology Today*, *14*(12), pp.485-489.

Cannon, R.J., 1995. *Bacillus thuringiensis* in pest control. *Biological Control: Benefits and Risks*, pp.190-197.

Carozzi, N.B., Kramer, V.C., Warren, G.W., Evola, S. and Koziel, M.G., 1991. Prediction of insecticidal activity of *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains by polymerase chain reaction product profiles. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 57, pp. 3057 – 3061.

Cerstiaens, A., Verleyen, P., Van Rie, J., Van Kerkhove, E., Schwartz, J.L., Laprade, R., De Loof, A. and Schoofs, L., 2001. Effect of *Bacillus thuringiensis* Cry1 toxins in insect hemolymph and their neurotoxicity in brain cells of Lymantria dispar. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67, pp. 3923 – 3927.

Chang, Y.H., Shangkuan, Y.H., Lin, H.C. and Liu, H.W., 2003. PCR assay of the groEL gene for detection and differentiation of *Bacillus cereus* group cells. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *69*(8), pp.4502-4510.

Cinar, C., Apaydin, O., Yenidunya, A.F., Harsa, S. and Gunes, H., 2008. Isolation and characterization of *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains from olive □ related habitats in Turkey. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *104*(2), pp.515-525.

Crickmore, N., Zeigler, D.R., Feitelson, J., Schnepf, E.S.C.H.E.R.I.C.H.I.A., Van Rie, J., Lereclus, D., Baum, J. and Dean, D.H., 1998. Revision of the nomenclature for the *Bacillus thuringiensis* pesticidal crystal proteins. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 62(3), pp.807-813.

De Barjac, H. and Bonnefoi, A., 1962. Essai de classification biochimique et sérologique de 24 souches de Bacillus du type *B. thuringiensis. BioControl*, 7(1), pp.5-31.

De Barjac, H. and Frachon, E., 1990. Classification of *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains. *BioControl*, 35(2), pp.233-240.

DeLucca, II A.J., Simonson, J.G. and Larson, A.D., 1981. *Bacillus thuringiensis* distribution in soils of the United States. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 27(9), pp.865-870.

Djenane, Z., Nateche, F., Amziane, M., Gomis-Cebolla, J., El-Aichar, F., Khorf, H. and Ferré, J., 2017. Assessment of the Antimicrobial Activity and the Entomocidal Potential of *Bacillus thuringiensis* Isolates from Algeria. *Toxins*, *9*(4), pp.139-158.

Dulmage, H.T. and Aizawa, K., 1982. Distribution of *Bacillus thuringiensis* in nature. *Microbial and Viral Pesticides*, *1*, pp.209-237.

Ejiofor, A.O. and Johnson, T., 2002. Physiological and molecular detection of crystalliferous *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains from habitats in the South Central United States. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 28(5), pp.284-290.

Ekino, K., Okumura, S., Ishikawa, T., Kitada, S., Saitoh, H., Akao, T., Oka, T., Nomura, Y., Ohba, M., Shin, T. and Mizuki, E., 2014. Cloning and characterization of a unique cytotoxic protein parasporin-5 produced by *Bacillus thuringiensis* A1100 strain. *Toxins*, 6(6), pp.1882-1895.

El-Kersh, T.A., Ahmed, A.M., Al-Sheikh, Y.A., Tripet, F., Ibrahim, M.S. and Metwalli, A.A., 2016. Isolation and characterization of native *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains from Saudi Arabia with enhanced larvicidal toxicity against the mosquito vector *Anopheles gambiae* (sl). *Parasites & Vectors*, 9(1), pp.647.

Ellis, R.T., Stockhoff, B.A., Stamp, L., Schnepf, H.E., Schwab, G.E., Knuth, M., Russell, J., Cardineau, G.A. and Narva, K.E., 2002. Novel *Bacillus thuringiensis* binary insecticidal crystal proteins active on western corn rootworm, *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera LeConte*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(3), pp.1137-1145.

Espino-Vázquez, A., Gómez-Treviño, A., Galán-Wong, L. and Pereyra-Alférez, B., 2012. Isolation of *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains with cytotoxic activity against MOLT-4, a leukemia cell line. *Microbes in Applied Research: Current Advantages and Challenges*, *1*, pp. 147-151.

Goldberg, L.J. and Margalit, J., 1977. A bacterial spore demonstrating rapid larvicidal activity against *Anopheles sergentii*, *Uranotaenia unguiculata*, Culex univitattus, *Aedes aegypti* and *Culex pipiens*. *Mosquito News*, *37*(3), pp.355-358.

Gordon, R.E., Haynes, W.C. and Pang, C.H.N., 1973. The genus Bacillus. US Department of Agriculture Handbook, 427, pp.109-26.

Guerchicoff, A., Ugalde, R.A. and Rubinstein, C.P., 1997. Identification and characterization of a previously undescribed cyt gene in *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *israelensis*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *63*(7), pp.2716-2721.

Halima, H.S., Bahy, A.A., Tian, H.H. and Qing, D.X., 2006. Molecular characterization of novel *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolate with molluscicidal activity against the intermediate host of schistosomes. *Biotechnology*, *5*(4), pp.413-420.

Hannay, C.L., 1953. Crystalline inclusions in aerobic spore forming bacteria. *Nature*, *172*(4387), pp.1004-1004.

Hansen, B.M., Damgaard, P.H., Eilenberg, J. and Pedersen, J.C., 1998. Molecular and phenotypic characterization of *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolated from leaves and insects. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology*, 71(2), pp.106-114.

Harrell, L.J., Andersen, G.L. and Wilson, K.H., 1995. Genetic variability of *Bacillus anthracis* and related species. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *33*(7), pp.1847-1850.

Hastowo, S., Lay, B.W. and Ohba, M., 1992. Naturally occurring *Bacillus thuringiensis* in Indonesia. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 73(2), pp.108-113.

Hayes, M., Carney, B., Slater, J. and Brück, W., 2008. Mining marine shellfish wastes for bioactive molecules: Chitin and chitosan–Part B: Applications. *Biotechnology Journal*, *3*(7), pp.878-889.

Helgason, E., Økstad, O.A., Caugant, D.A., Johansen, H.A., Fouet, A., Mock, M., Hegna, I. and Kolstø, A.B., 2000. *Bacillus anthracis, Bacillus cereus*, and *Bacillus thuringiensis*—one species on the basis of genetic evidence. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *66*(6), pp.2627-2630.

Herrnstadt, C., Gilroy, T., Sobieski, D., Bennett, B. and Gaertner, F., 1987. Nucleotide sequence and deduced amino acid sequence of a Coleopteran-active delta-endotoxin gene from *Bacillus thuringiensis subsp. san diego. Gene*, *57*(1), pp. 37 – 46.

Higuchi, K., Saitoh, H., Mizuki, E. and Ohba, M., 1998. Similarity in moth-fly specific larvicidal activity between two serologically unrelated *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, *169*(2), pp.213-218.

Hilmi, Y., 2017. Dengue tops the list of infectious diseases in Malaysia. *The Sun Daily*, [online] 27 Nov 2017. Available at:

<a href="http://www.thesundaily.my/news/2017/11/28/dengue-tops-list-infectious-diseases-malaysia">http://www.thesundaily.my/news/2017/11/28/dengue-tops-list-infectious-diseases-malaysia</a> [30 March 2018].

Höfte, H. and Whiteley, H.R., 1989. Insecticidal crystal proteins of *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Microbiological Reviews*, 53(2), pp.242-255.

Höfte, H., Van Rie, J., Jansens, S., Van Houtven, A., Vanderbruggen, H. and Vaeck, M., 1988. Monoclonal antibody analysis and insecticidal spectrum of three types of lepidopteran-specific insecticidal crystal proteins of *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *54*(8), pp.2010-2017.

Honda, S., Kunii, T., Nohara, K., Wakita, S., Sugahara, Y., Kawakita, M., Oyama, F. and Sakaguchi, M., 2017. Characterization of a *Bacillus thuringiensis* chitinase that binds to cellulose and chitin. *AMB Express*, 7(1), pp.51-62.

Ibarra, J.E., del Rincón, M.C., Ordúz, S., Noriega, D., Benintende, G., Monnerat, R., Regis, L., de Oliveira, C.M., Lanz, H., Rodriguez, M.H. and Sánchez, J., 2003. Diversity of *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains from Latin America with insecticidal activity against different mosquito species. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69(9), pp.5269-5274.

Ibrahim, M.A., Griko, N., Junker, M. and Bulla, L.A., 2010. *Bacillus thuringiensis*: a genomics and proteomics perspective. *Bioengineered Bugs*, *1*(1), pp.31-50.

Ishiwata, S., 1901. On a kind of severe flacherie (sotto disease). *Dainihon Sanshi Kaiho*, *114*, pp.1-5.

Ito, A., Sasaguri, Y., Kitada, S., Kusaka, Y., Kuwano, K., Masutomi, K., Mizuki, E., Akao, T. and Ohba, M., 2004. A *Bacillus thuringiensis* crystal protein with selective cytocidal action to human cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(20), pp.21282-21286.

Jisha, V.N., Smitha, R.B. and Benjamin, S., 2013. An overview on the crystal toxins from *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Advances in Microbiology*, *3*(05), p.462.

Juárez-Pérez, V., Guerchicoff, A., Rubinstein, C. and Delécluse, A., 2002. Characterization of Cyt2Bc toxin from *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *medellin. Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *68*(3), pp.1228-1231.

Kaelin, P., Morel, P. and Gadani, F., 1994. Isolation of *Bacillus thuringiensis* from stored tobacco and *Lasioderma serricorne* (F.). *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 60(1), pp.19-25.

Katayama, H., Kusaka, Y., Yokota, H., Akao, T., Kojima, M., Nakamura, O., Mekada, E. and Mizuki, E., 2007. Parasporin-1, a novel cytotoxic protein from *Bacillus thuringiensis*, induces Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and a sustained elevation of the cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration in toxin-sensitive cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(10), pp.7742-7752

Katayama, H., Yokota, H., Akao, T., Nakamura, O., Ohba, M., Mekada, E. and Mizuki, E., 2005. Parasporin-1, a novel cytotoxic protein to human cells from non-insecticidal parasporal inclusions of *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Journal of Biochemistry*, *137*(1), pp.17-25.

Kitada, S., Abe, Y., Maeda, T. and Shimada, H., 2009. Parasporin-2 requires GPI-anchored proteins for the efficient cytocidal action to human hepatoma cells. *Toxicology*, *264*(1), pp.80-88.

Kitada, S., Abe, Y., Shimada, H., Kusaka, Y., Matsuo, Y., Katayama, H., Okumura, S., Akao, T., Mizuki, E., Kuge, O. and Sasaguri, Y., 2006. Cytocidal actions of parasporin-2, an anti-tumor crystal toxin from *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(36), pp.26350-26360.

Krieg, A., Huger, A.M., Langenbruch, G.A. and Schnetter, W., 1983. *Bacillus thuringiensis var. tenebrionis*: Ein neuer, gegenüber Larven von Coleopteren wirksamer Pathotyp. *Zeitschrift für Angewandte Entomologie*, 96(1-5), pp.500 – 508.

Lecadet, M.M., Frachon, E., Dumanoir, V.C., Ripouteau, H., Hamon, S., Laurent, P. and Thiery, I., 1999. Updating the H antigen classification of *Bacillus thuringiensis. Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 86(4), pp.660-672.

Lee, D.H., Cha, I.H., Woo, D.S. and Ohba, M., 2003. Microbial ecology of *Bacillus thuringiensis*: fecal populations recovered from wildlife in Korea. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 49(7), pp.465-471.

Liang, H., Liu, Y., Zhu, J., Guan, P., Li, S., Wang, S., Zheng, A., Liu, H. and Li, P., 2011. Characterization of *cry2-type* genes of *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains from soil-isolated of Sichuan basin, China. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, *42*(1), pp.140-146.

Lone, S.A., Malik, A. and Padaria, J.C., 2017. Selection and characterization of *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains from northwestern Himalayas toxic against *Helicoverpa armigera*. *MicrobiologyOpen*, 6(6).

Maeda, M., Mizuki, E., Nakamura, Y., Hatano, T. and Ohba, M., 2000. Recovery of *Bacillus thuringiensis* from marine sediments of Japan. *Current Microbiology*, 40(6), pp.418-422.

Mahalakshmi, A., Sujatha, K., Kani, P. and Shenbagarathai, R., 2012. Distribution of cry and cyt genes among indigenous *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates with mosquitocidal activity. *Advances in Microbiology*, 2(03), pp.216

Martin, P.A. and Travers, R.S., 1989. Worldwide abundance and distribution of *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 55(10), pp.2437-2442.

Mattes, O., 1927. Parasitare Krankheiten der Mehlmottenlarven und Versuche uber ihre Verwendbarkeit als biologisches Bekiampfungsmittel. *Sitzber. Ges. Beforder Ges Naturw Marburg*, 62, pp.381-417.

McPherson, S.A., Perlak, F.J., Fuchs, R.L., Marrone, P.G., Lavrik, P.B. and Fischhoff, D.A., 1988. Characterization of the Coleopteran-specific protein gene of *Bacillus thuringiensis var tenebrionis*. *Nature Biotechnology*, 6(1), pp. 61 - 66.

Meadows, M.P., Ellis, D.J., Butt, J., Jarrett, P. and Burges, H.D., 1992. Distribution, frequency, and diversity of *Bacillus thuringiensis* in an animal feed mill. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *58*(4), pp.1344-1350.

Mikkola, A.R., Carlberg, G.A., Vaara, T.T. and Gyllenberg, H.G., 1982. Comparison of inclusions in different *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains. An electron microscope study. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, *13*(4), pp.401-408.

Mizuki, E., Ohba, M., Akao, T., Yamashita, S., Saitoh, H. and Park, Y.S., 1999. Unique activity associated with non insecticidal *Bacillus thuringiensis* parasporal inclusions: in vitro cell killing action on human cancer cells. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *86*(3), pp.477-486.

Mizuki, E., Park, Y.S., Saitoh, H., Yamashita, S., Akao, T., Higuchi, K. and to, M., 2000. Parasporin, a human leukemic cell-recognizing parasporal protein of *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*, 7(4), pp.625-634.

Moar, W.J., Trumble, J.T., Hice, R.H. and Backman, P.A., 1994. Insecticidal activity of the CryIIA protein from the NRD-12 isolate of *Bacillus thuringiensis subsp. kurstaki* expressed in *Escherichia coli* and *Bacillus thuringiensis* and in a leaf-colonizing strain of *Bacillus cereus*. Applied and Environmental *Microbiology*, 60(3), pp. 896 – 902.

Monnerat, R.G., Dias, D.G.S., Silva, S.F.D., Martins, E.S., Berry, C., Falcão, R., Gomes, A.C.M.M., Praça, L.B. and Soares, C.M.S., 2005. Screening of *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains effective against mosquitoes. *Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira*, 40(2), pp.103-106.

Muniady, S., Rathinam, X. and Subramaniam, S., 2011. Quick isolation and characterization for the confirmation of a novel *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains from chicken manure samples. *African Journal of Microbiology Research*, *5*(20), pp.3131-3137.

Nadarajah, V.D., Ting, D., Chan, K.K., Mohamed, S.M., Kanakeswary, K. and Lee, H.L., 2008. Selective cytotoxic activity against leukemic cell lines from mosquitocidal Bacillus thuringiensis parasporal inclusions. *Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, *39*(2), pp.235.

Nagamatsu, Y., Okamura, S., Saitou, H., Akao, T. and Mizuki, E., 2010. Three Cry toxins in two types from *Bacillus thuringiensis* strain M019 preferentially kill human hepatocyte cancer and uterus cervix cancer cells. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 74(3), pp.494-498.

Oestergaard, J., Ehlers, R.U., Martínez-Ramírez, A.C. and Real, M.D., 2007. Binding of Cyt1Aa and Cry11Aa toxins of *Bacillus thuringiensis* serovar *israelensis* to brush border membrane vesicles of *Tipula paludosa* (Diptera: Nematocera) and subsequent pore formation. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(11), pp.3623-3629.

Ohba, M., Mizuki, E. and Uemori, A., 2009. Parasporin, a new anticancer protein group from *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Anticancer Research*, 29(1), pp.427-433.

Okumura, S., Saitoh, H., Ishikawa, T., Inouye, K. and Mizuki, E., 2011. Mode of action of parasporin-4, a cytocidal protein from *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, 1808(6), pp.1476-1482.

Okumura, S., Saitoh, H., Ishikawa, T., Wasano, N., Yamashita, S., Kusumoto, K.I., Akao, T., Mizuki, E., Ohba, M. and Inouye, K., 2005. Identification of a novel cytotoxic protein, Cry45Aa, from *Bacillus thuringiensis* A1470 and its selective cytotoxic activity against various mammalian cell lines. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(16), pp.6313-6318.

Osman, G.E.H., Already, R., Assaeedi, A.S.A., Organji, S.R., El-Ghareeb, D., Abulreesh, H.H. and Althubiani, A.S., 2015. Bioinsecticide *Bacillus thuringiensis* a comprehensive Review. *Egyptian Journal of Biological Pest Control*, 25(1), pp.271-288.

Palma, L., Muñoz, D., Berry, C., Murillo, J. and Caballero, P., 2014. *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxins: an overview of their biocidal activity. *Toxins*, 6(12), pp.3296-3325.

ParasporinClassificationandNomenclatureCommittee,2010.ListofParasporins.[online]Availableat:<http://parasporin.fitc.pref.fukuoka.jp/list.html>[Accessed 1 February 2018].

Pérez, C., Fernandez, L.E., Sun, J., Folch, J.L., Gill, S.S., Soberón, M. and Bravo, A., 2005. *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. israelensis Cyt1Aa synergizes Cry11Aa toxin by functioning as a membrane-bound receptor. *Proceedings of the National academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(51), pp.18303-18308.

Porcar, M. and Caballero, P., 2000. Molecular and insecticidal characterization of a Bacillus thuringiensis strain isolated during a natural epizootic. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 89(2), pp.309-316.

Porcar, M. and Juárez-Pérez, V., 2003. PCR-based identification of *Bacillus thuringiensis* pesticidal crystal genes. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 26(5), pp.419-432

Priest, F.G., Barker, M., Baillie, L.W., Holmes, E.C. and Maiden, M.C., 2004. Population structure and evolution of the *Bacillus cereus* group. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *186*(23), pp.7959-7970. Quesada-Moraga, E., García-Tóvar, E., Valverde-García, P. and Santiago-Alvarez, C., 2004. Isolation, geographical diversity and insecticidal activity of *Bacillus thuringiensis* from soils in Spain. *Microbiological Research*, 159(1), pp.59-71.

Radnedge, L., Agron, P.G., Hill, K.K., Jackson, P.J., Ticknor, L.O., Keim, P. and Andersen, G.L., 2003. Genome differences that distinguish *Bacillus anthracis* from *Bacillus cereus* and *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69(5), pp.2755-2764.

Rampersad, J. and Ammons, D., 2005. A *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolation method utilizing a novel stain, low selection and high throughput produced atypical results. *BMC Microbiology*, 5(52), pp. 1 – 11.

Renganathan, K., Rathinam, X., Danial, M. and Subramaniam, S., 2011. Quick isolation and characterization of novel *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains from mosquito breeding sites in Malaysia. *Emirates Journal of Food and Agriculture*, 23(1), pp.17-26.

Restrepo, N., Gutierrez, D., Patino, M.M., Thiery, I., Delecluse, A. and Orduz, S., 1997. Cloning, expression and toxicity of a mosquitocidal toxin gene of *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *medellin. Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 92, pp.257-262.

Roh, J.Y., Choi, J.Y., Li, M.S., Jin, B.R. and Je, Y.H., 2007. *Bacillus thuringiensis* as a specific, safe, and effective tool for insect pest control. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, *17*(4), pp.547-559.

Rosas-García, N.M., 2009. Biopesticide production from *Bacillus thuringiensis*: an environmentally friendly alternative. *Recent Patents on Biotechnology*, *3*(1), pp.28-36.

Rosas García, N.M., Mireles Martínez, M., Hernández Mendoza, J.L. and Ibarra, J.E., 2008. Screening of *cry* gene contents of *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains isolated from avocado orchards in Mexico, and their insecticidal activity towards *Argyrotaenia* sp. (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) larvae. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *104*(1), pp.224-230.

Saadoun, I., Al $\Box$ Momani, F., Obeidat, M., Meqdam, M. and Elbetieha, A., 2001. Assessment of toxic potential of local Jordanian *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains on *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Culex* sp. (Diptera). *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 90(6), pp.866-872.

Sanahuja, G., Banakar, R., Twyman, R.M., Capell, T. and Christou, P., 2011. *Bacillus thuringiensis*: a century of research, development and commercial applications. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, *9*(3), pp.283-300.

Sanchis, V. and Bourguet, D., 2008. *Bacillus thuringiensis*: applications in agriculture and insect resistance management. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 28(1), pp.11-20.

Sauka, D.H., Basurto-Ríos, R.E., Ibarra, J.E. and Benintende, G.B., 2010. Characterization of an Argentine isolate of *Bacillus thuringiensis* similar to the HD-1 strain. *Neotropical Entomology*, *39*(5), pp.767-773.

Schnepf, E., Crickmore, N.V., Van Rie, J., Lereclus, D., Baum, J., Feitelson, J., Zeigler, D.R. and Dean, D.H., 1998. *Bacillus thuringiensis* and its pesticidal crystal proteins. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 62(3), pp.775-806.

Schünemann, R., Fiuza, L.M., Pinto, L.M.N. and Zanettini, M.H.B., 2012. Two new Brazilian isolates of *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxic to *Anticarsia gemmatalis* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Brazilian Journal of Biology*, 72(2), pp.363-369.

Sen, K., Honda, G., Koyama, N., Nishida, M., Neki, A., Sakai, H., Himeno, M. and Komano, T., 1988. Cloning and nucleotide sequences of the two 130kDa insecticidal protein genes of *Bacillus thuringiensis* var. *israelensis*. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry*, *52*(3), pp.873-878.

Silva, N.D., Thuler, A.M.G., Abreu, I.L.D., Davolos, C.C., Polanczyk, R.A. and Lemos, M.V.F., 2010. Characterization and selection of *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates effective against *Sitophilus oryzae*. *Scientia Agricola*, 67(4), pp.472-478.

Singh-Ashk, G.K., 2007. Bt cotton not pest resistant, *The times of India*, [online] 30 Aug 2017. Available at: <https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/nagpur/experts-bt-cotton-no-longerresistant-to-bollworm/articleshow/60292869.cms> [30 March 2018].

Smith, R.A. and Couche, G.A., 1991. The phylloplane as a source of *Bacillus thuringiensis* variants. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 57(1), pp.311-315.

Soufiane, B. and Côté, J.C., 2009. Discrimination among *Bacillus thuringiensis* H serotypes, serovars and strains based on 16S rRNA, *gyrB* and *aroE* gene sequence analyses. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 95(1), pp.33-45.

Starnes, R.L., Liu, C.L. and Marrone, P.G., 1993. History, use, and future of microbial insecticides. *American Entomologist*, *39*(2), pp.83-91. Tortora, G.J., Funke, B.R. and Case, C.L., 2013. *Microbiology: An introduction*. Boston: Pearson.

Tortora, G.J., Funke, B.R., Case, C.L. and Johnson, T.R., 2004. *Microbiology: an introduction* (Vol. 9). San Francisco, CA: Benjamin Cummings.

Twardus, D., 1989. USDA forest service gypsy moth aerial suppression/eradication. *Gypsy Moth News*, 20(2), pp.1-22

Uemori, A., Ohgushi, A., Yasutake, K., Maeda, M., Mizuki, E. and Ohba, M., 2008. Parasporin-1Ab, a novel *Bacillus thuringiensis* cytotoxin preferentially active on human cancer cells *in vitro*. *Anticancer Research*, 28(1A), pp.91-95.

Vilas-Boas, G.T., Peruca, A.P.S. and Arantes, O.M.N., 2007. Biology and taxonomy of *Bacillus cereus*, *Bacillus anthracis*, and *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 53(6), pp.673-687.

Viterbo, A., Haran, S., Friesem, D., Ramot, O. and Chet, I., 2001. Antifungal activity of a novel endochitinase gene (*chit36*) from *Trichoderma harzianum* Rifai TM. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 200(2), pp.169-174.

Xu, C., Wang, B.C., Yu, Z. and Sun, M., 2014. Structural insights into *Bacillus thuringiensis* Cry, Cyt and parasporin toxins. *Toxins*, 6(9), pp.2732-2770.

Yamamoto, T., 1983. Identification of entomocidal toxins of *Bacillus thuringiensis* by high performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of General Microbiology*, *129*(1), pp. 2595 – 2603

Yamashita, S., Katayama, H., Saitoh, H., Akao, T., Park, Y.S., Mizuki, E., Ohba, M. and Ito, A., 2005. Typical three-domain Cry proteins of *Bacillus thuringiensis* strain A1462 exhibit cytocidal activity on limited human cancer cells. *Journal of Biochemistry*, *138*(6), pp.663-672.

Yasutake, K., Uemori, A., Kagoshima, K. and Ohba, M., 2007. Serological identification and insect toxicity of *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolated from the island Okinoerabu-jima, Japan. *Applied Entomology and Zoology*, 42(2), pp.285-290.

### APPENDICES

# Appendix A

### List of instruments and apparatus used with respective manufacturers

Instrument/Apparatus	Manufacturers			
Autoclaved Machine	Hirayama, Japan			
Centrifuge Tube (15 ml & 50 ml)	Axygen Scientific, USA			
Compound Light Microscope	Leica, Japan			
Freeze dryer	Scanvac COOLSAFE <sup>™</sup> , Denmark			
Gel Electrophoresis Set	Major Science, Taiwan			
Heat block	BioShake IQ			
Incubator	Copens Scientific (M) Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia			
Microwave Oven	Sharp, Japan			
Mini-Protean Tetra System	Bio-Rad, US			
Nano-photospectrometer	IMPLEN			
Petri Dishes	Labmart			
pH Meter	Sartorius, Gemmy Industrial Corp.			
Shaking Incubator	Copens Scientific (M) Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia			
Scanninge Electron Microscope	JEOL (JSM-6701F),USA			
Table-top Microcentrifuge Machine	Profuge			
Transmission Electron Microscope	CM12, Philips			
Vortex	VELP® Scientific, Europe			
UV Transilluminator	Bio-rad, US			

### APPENDICES

# Appendix B

# List of chemicals, media and reagents used with respective manufacturers

Chemicals/Media/Reagents	Manufacturers
Agarose Powder	1st Base
Ammonium Persulfate (APS)	Sigma Aldrich
30% Bis-Acrylamide	Bio basic
Coomassie Brilliant Blue (R-250)	BioBasic, Canada
Chromatin Prestained Protein Ladder	Vivantis
Crystal Violet	Lab Stain
Dithiothreitol (DTT)	Thermofisher
DNA Extraction Kit	Geneaid, Taiwan
100-bp Plus DNA Ladder	Thermofisher
1kb Plus DNA Ladder	Thermofisher
6X DNA Loading Dye	Thermofisher
Gram's Iodine	Lab Stain
Glycerol	Qrec, Malaysia
25% Glutaraldehyde	Sigma-Aldrich
Malachite Green	R&M Marketing, Essex
PCR Master Mix	Promega
Novel-juice	GeneDireX
Nutrient Agar	Merck, Germany
Nutrient Broths	Merck, Germany
Total Protein Isolation Kit	ProteoSpin, Norgen
Safranin O	Bendosen
Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate (SDS)	Chem Solution
Tetramethylethylenediamine	Alfa Aeser
(TEMED)	
Tris-HCl	Chem Solution
### APPENDICES

## Appendix C

#### **Preparation of Media**

### **Preparation of Nutrient Agar**

A total amount of 8 g of nutrient agar powder were dissolved in 1000 mL of distilled water in media bottle and autoclaved. Then, the media was poured into sterile agar plate and allowed to solidify at room temperature.

### **Preparation of Nutrient Broths**

A total amount of 20 g of nutrient broths powder were dissolved in 1000 mL of distilled water in media bottle and autoclaved. Then, the media was stored in media bottle for prior to usage.

### Preparation of 6X Sample Buffer for SDS-PAGE

A volume of 3.75 ml of 1 M Tris-HCl with the pH of 6.8 was dissolved in 6 ml of glycerol. Then, 1.2 g of SDS powder, 0.93 g of DTT powder and 0.006 g of bromophenol blue powder were added to the mixture and mixed well. Then, the mixture was topped up with water to 10 ml and stored at  $-20\Box$  for prior to usage

#### **Preparation of Loading-dye-Novel-juice**

A total amount of 100 mL of novel juice was added with 400 mL of 6X loading dye to an Eppendorf tube. The mixture was mixed thoroughly and kept in the dark condition under -20°C.

# Preparation of 1.5 % Agarose Gel

A total amount of 0.45 g of agarose powder was mixed with 30 mL of 1X TBE buffer. The mixture was heated in the microwave to dissolve the powder, then poured onto a gel cast and waited for 15 minutes for the gel to solidify.

# Preparation of 2.0% Agarose Gel

A total amount of 0.3 g of agarose powder was mixed with 15 mL of 1X TBE buffer. The mixture was heated in the microwave to dissolve the powder, then poured onto a gel cast and waited for 15 minutes for the gel to solidify.